IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1982

Improvement in the analysis of ashes from coal by spark source mass spectrography

Tim David Welcomer Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Analytical Chemistry Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Welcomer, Tim David, "Improvement in the analysis of ashes from coal by spark source mass spectrography " (1982). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 7489. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/7489

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digrep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

This was produced from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure you of complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark it is an indication that the film inspector noticed either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, or duplicate copy. Unless we meant to delete copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed, you will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame. If copyrighted materials were deleted you will find a target note listing the pages in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed the photographer has followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. if necessary, sectioning is continued again-beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For any illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and tipped into your xerographic copy. Requests can be made to our Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases we have filmed the best available copy.



8221234

Welcomer, Tim David

IMPROVEMENT IN THE ANALYSIS OF ASHES FROM COAL BY SPARK SOURCE MASS SPECTROGRAPHY

Iowa State University

Рн.D. 1982

University Microfilms International 300 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106

.

PLEASE NOTE:

In all cases this material has been filmed in the best possible way from the available copy. Problems encountered with this document have been identified here with a check mark $_\sqrt{}$.

1.	Glossy photographs or pages		
2.	Colored illustrations, paper or print		
3.	Photographs with dark background		
4.	Illustrations are poor copy		
5.	Pages with black marks, not original copy		
6.	Print shows through as there is text on both sides of page		
7.	Indistinct, broken or small print on several pages		
8.	Print exceeds margin requirements		
9.	Tightly bound copy with print lost in spine		
10.	Computer printout pages with indistinct print		
11.	Page(s) lacking when material received, and not available from school or author.		
12.	Page(s) seem to be missing in numbering only as text follows.		

- 13. Two pages numbered ______. Text follows.
- 14. Curiing and wrinkled pages _____

.

15. Other_____

.

University Microfilms International

Improvement in the analysis of ashes from coal

by spark source mass spectrography

bу

Tim David Welcomer

A Dissertation Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department: Chemistry Major: Analytical Chemistry

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charg of (Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

•

		Page
	LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	iii
I.	INTRODUCTION	
II.	PRINCIPLE3 OF SPARK SOURCE MASS SPECTROMETRY	6
	A. Ion Source	6
	B. Electrostatic and Magnetix Analyzers	7
	C. Photographic Detection	11
III.	REVIEW OF RELATED WORK	14
	A. Other Methods of Analysis fo Coal and Ashes	14
	B. Accuracy of the Analysis of Semples Related to Ccal and Geological Materials by Spark Source Mass Spectrography	23
IV.	IMPROVEMENTS IN THE ANALYTICAL METHOD OF SSMS	29
	A. Time of Analysis	29
	B. Sparking of the Sample	31
	C. Calibration of the Photographic Emulsion	32
۷.	ANALYSIS OF STANDARD AND IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY POWER PLANT COAL AND ASH SAMPLES BY SSMS	43
	A. Experimental	43
	B. Results and Discussion of the Analysis of the Standard Samples	49
	C. Results and Discussion of the Analysis of the Power Plant Samples	55
VI.	CONCLUSIONS	83
VII.	SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE WORK	
VIII.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	
IX.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	105

ii

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- AAS Atomic absorption spectrometry
- a.c. Alternating current
- AES Atomic emission spectroscopy
- ASTM American Society for Testing Materials
- ATWT Atomic weight
- av Average
- CO Colorado
- d.c. Direct current
- EP Electrostatic precipitator
- EPA Environmental Protection Agency
- GC-MES Gas chromatography-microwave emission spectroscopy
- HTA High-temperature ash
- IA Iowa
- INAA Instrumental neutron activation analysis
- IPAA Instrumental photon activation analysis
- log Logarithm
- LTA Low-temperature ash
- m/z Mass-to-charge ratio
- NBS National Bureau of Standards
- nC Nanocoulomb
- PDC Primary dust collector
- PGAA Neutron-capture prompt gamma-ray activation analysis
- ppb Parts-per-billion

ppm	Parts-per-million	
-----	-------------------	--

- ppma Parts-per-million atomic
- ppmw Parts-per-million by weight
- psi Pounds-per-square-inch
- rel. Relative
- r.f. Radio-frequency
- RSC Relative sensitivity coefficient
- r.s.d. Relative standard deviation
- SRM Standard reference material
- SSMS Spark source mass spectrography
- std. Standard
- WC Whole coal
- XRF X-ray fluorescence spectrometry

I. INTRODUCTION

Our highly technological society demands increasing amounts of energy to maintain its high standard of living. However, our national security is threatened by our dependence on imported oil. Also, the question of whether the benefits of nuclear energy outweigh the dangers is still unanswered. The most abundant fossil fuel resource in the United States is coal, but its increasing use also presents problems. The burning of coal creates a large amount of waste in the form of ash. The manner of disposal of this ash is important because it contains many elements which could adversely affect the environment and human health (1-5). Improper disposal could lead to hazardous amounts of many elements in the soil and water.

The periodic table in Fig. I-1 shows the elements of concern (6). Low levels of arsenic, cadmium, mercury and lead are toxic to most biological systems (6). The increased salinity of the soil (7-9), boron (9,10) and, to a lesser extent, copper, nickel and zinc (6) are all toxic to crops (11) and other plants. Molybdenum and selenium (12-14), and, to a lesser extent, chromium, vanadium and fluorine (6) are toxic to livestock at elevated levels, and ultimately hazardous to human health (6,15). Uranium and thorium are concentrated in the ashes and the increased radioactivity could be deleterious; however, more study of this problem is needed (6,15). Inhalable gases and submicrometer particulates can also provide a pathway for toxic elements to enter biological systems. The oxides of sulfur and nitrogen produce hazardous "acid rain".



Figure I-1. Periodic table

Particulates highly concentrated in many of the toxic elements enter the body through the respiratory tract (1,5,16-18).

The waste ash can also be useful. Under controlled conditions, the ash can be added to the soil to provide nutrients to aid the growth of useful crops and other plants (10,19-21). Acidic soils and acid mine drainage can be neutralized by the addition of proper amounts of ash (10,22). The ash has a high adsorption capacity and can be used to remove hazardous and unpleasant elements and organic species from surface and waste waters (22). The ash can also be used as a conditioner for industrial waste sludge (22). The ash is used extensively in construction and soil stabilization (23). Another use being developed is the extraction of minerals from the ash (23). Two of the most important minerals are ferric oxide (24,25) and alumina (26,27). The ash may also be a source of metals for which good ores are scarce.

To determine the potential environmental and potential commercial impact of the combustion of a certain coal and the disposal of its ash, a materials balance study of the fluent coal and the effluent ash needs to be performed. The analytical method used should have several demanding characteristics. The number of potentially hazardous and useful elements is large, so the method should be capable of multielement analysis. The elements of interest range in concentration from ultratrace to major constituents, so the method should be sensitive with low detection limits and have a high linearity of response over the concentration range. The method must be economically feasible with a low cost x time/element ratio. The analytical method of spark source

mass spectrography is capable of meeting these requirements. All of the elements from lithium to uranium can be recorded simultaneously and permanently on a photographic plate (28-31). The detection limits for the elements range from 100 to 1 ppb (29,30). The linearity of response and dynamic range of concentration of the photographic emulsion are of the order of 10^5 to 10^7 depending on the number of exposure levels used (29,31). The cost and amount of time for an analysis are relatively high, but the number of elements analyzed is relatively very large, so on a cost per element basis, it is an economically feasible method when compared to other possible analytical methods.

The major disadvantage of this method is the sensitivity of analytical accuracy and precision to a number of factors. These factors include the homogeneity of the sample, the stability of the radio frequency (r.f.) spark, the matrix of the sample, the complexity of the mass spectrum, and the calibration of the photographic emulsion. These factors are particularly important in the analysis of ash from coal. In a typical analysis, less than 10 mg of sample is consumed. Great care must be taken to assure the maximum homogeneity of the sample (29,32), especially for ash which is a very inhomogeneous substance. An erratic r.f. spark is detrimental to the analytical accuracy and precision (33), so the spark should be stabilized as much as possible. The ionization efficiency of the spark is dependent upon the sample matrix (34). Good standard samples with matrices similar to that of the ash are needed to calculate accurate relative sensitivity coefficients for the elements (35). The ash contains most of the elements in the earth's crust which

results in a very complex mass spectrum. This complexity limits the number of choices of elements to be used as internal standards because of spectral interferences (36). The accuracy of the analysis is also dependent upon the accuracy of the calibration of the photographic emulsion (37-39).

The purpose of this research was to develop a method of analysis for ash from coal by spark source mass spectrography which would assure good homogeneity of the sample, improve the stability of the r.f. spark, determine accurate relative sensitivity coefficients for the elements in the ash matrix, select internal standards free from spectra! interferences, and provide an accurate calibration of the photoplate emulsion. The effectiveness of this method was to be tested by the performance of a mass balance study on the coal burned at the Iowa State University power plant.

II. PRINCIPLES OF SPARK SOURCE MASS SPECTROMETRY

A. Ion Source

Ions are formed in spark source mass spectrometry (SSMS) when a radio frequency high voltage is applied between two conducting sample electrodes. The resulting sparks volatilize a small amount of the sample and create ions of its constituent elements. Electrodes of conducting samples can be in the form of rods, bars, chips, needles, or any other tractable form. Nonconducting samples must be powered, mixed with a spectroscopically pure conducting powder (graphite, silver, etc.), and compressed into suitable electrodes. The sparking process takes place at a pressure $\leq 10^{-5}$ torr in a special differentially pumped vacuum housing.

Sample electrodes are mounted in appropriate holders which can be manipulated from outside the vacuum housing. The electrodes are surrounded by a special shield which is maintained along with the electrodes at the ion accelerating d.c. potential of 15-30 keV. The purpose of the shield is to maintain a uniform electric field around the electrodes, to reduce contamination of the source housing by materials sputtered from the electrodes, and to prevent overloading the accelerating voltage power supply (33). The shield also serves to minimize the need to clean the housing periodically and reduces the instrument "memory" from one sample to the next.

A pulsed 1 MHz potential of \sim 100 kV, peak-to-peak, is applied between the sample electrodes. A schematic view of the circuit is

shown in Fig. II-1. Spark parameters can be varied as required. Pulse lengths between 20 and 200 μ s are available and pulse repetition rates can be varied from one to several thousand pulses s⁻¹. The r.f. spark consists of a number of consecutive distinct voltage breakdowns during each pulse (40). This number depends upon the electrode gap width which in turn determines the breakdown voltage and the relaxation time of the r.f. voltage in the spark circuit. Successive breakdowns character-istically occur several r.f. cycles after a previous breakdown.

The r.f. spark is a very energetic chemical environment. Sample material is volatilized and ions are formed from the surface of the electrodes in a pulsating plasma rich in ions and electrons. The kinetic energies of the ions can be several hundred to several thousand keV. These ions are accelerated into the grounded mass spectrometer with energies corresponding to the accelerating voltage.

B. Electrostatic and Magnetic Analyzers

The large energy spread of the ions formed by the r.f. spark necessitates the use of a mass spectrometer with very good focusing and resolving capabilities. The majority of spark source instruments are double-focusing using the Mattauch-Herzog geometry. A diagram of a typical instrument is shown in Fig. II-2 (41).

The coupling of an electrostatic field with a magnetic field in tandem provides both velocity and directional focusing, plus mass dispersion. The electrostatic field produces an energy spectrum by dispersing the narrow ion bean (42) according to:



Figure II-1. Radio-frequency spark circuit

,



Q

Figure II-2. Spark source mass spectrograph with Mattauch-Herzog geometry

$$D_{e} = \frac{\Delta r_{e}}{2} \left[(1 - \cos \sqrt{2} \phi_{e}) + \frac{\lambda_{e}'}{r_{e}} \sqrt{2} \sin \sqrt{2} \phi_{e} \right] \qquad (II-1)$$

where r_e is the radius of curvature of the electrostatic field, ℓ'_e is the object distance, and ϕ_e is the deflection angle of the field. Only ions with a certain small energy spread enter the magnetic field which focuses ions of equal m/z, but differing velocities, to a single point. The mass dispersion (42) is described by:

$$D_{m} = \frac{\Delta r_{m}}{r_{m}} \left[r_{m} (1 - \cos \phi_{m}) + \ell_{m}^{"} (\sin \phi_{m} + (1 - \cos \phi_{m}) \tan e_{m}^{"}) \right] \quad (II-2)$$

where r_m is the radius of curvature of the magnetic field, $\mathfrak{l}_m^{"}$ is the image distance, ϕ_m is the deflection angle of the field, and $e_m^{"}$ is the angle made by the average ion beam as it exits the field and the perpendicular to the field boundary.

In general, double-focusing is obtained for only one value of r_m , but under certain conditions all the ions can be focused in the same plane. These conditions (41) require that the entrance slit to the electrostatic field must be at the object focus, and the ions must exit the electrostatic field and enter the magnetic field as a parallel beam. The Mattauch-Herzog geometry satisfies these conditions. An ionsensitive photographic plate can be placed at the exit pole boundary of the magnetic field to record the mass spectrum.

The mass resolution (R = $\frac{M}{\Delta M}$, where M is mass) provided by this instrument geometry depends solely on the constants associated with the electrostatic field (42) according to:

$$R = \frac{\Gamma_e}{S_e}$$
(II-3)

where S'_e is the entrance slit width. However, the mass dispersion depends solely on the constants associated with the magnetic field according to Equation II-2. The position of a spectral line on the photographic plate is directly proportional to the square root of its m/z. Generally, both analyzers are operated at a pressure $\leq 10^{-8}$ torr.

C. Photographic Detection

Ion-sensitive silver bromide photographic plates are commonly used in SSMS to provide a permanent sensitive record of mass spectra in a small amount of space. The complete mass spectrum from Li to U can be recorded simultaneously. Both major and ultra-trace elemental analyses can be performed in one experiment by recording a sequence of different exposure levels.

The photographic emulsion is a collector-transducer-recorder combined into one system. Sensitivity and the snape of the response curve are the two primary measures of the performance of the emulsion (43). Sensitivity is defined as the fractional area blackened per incident ion density, for vanishingly small ion densities (44). An ion produced by the r.f. spark is energetic enough to make a single halide crystal developable (45). The sensitivity is dependent upon both the mass and energy of an ion. This topic will be discussed in detail in Chapter IV in this dissertation. The reproducibility of an exposure

depends on the uniformity of the emulsion on a photoplate and from plate to plate, as well as on the developing process.

The response of the emulsion is expressed as fractional blackening B or transmittance T, where B is directly proportional to the number of blackened halide grains (46)

$$B = 1 - T = (\psi_0 - \psi)/\psi_0$$
 (II-4)

and where ψ_0 is the light intensity incident on the photoplate, as measured by a microphotometer, and ψ is the light intensity transmitted through the plate. Two parameters are measured to evaluate the response of an emulsion: the total ionic charge Q, as measured by an integrating ion monitor; and B (47). The reciprocity law is valid for these ionsensitive emulsions (48). Consequently, the emulsion is an integrating detector. The total number of exposed halide grains in a spectral line $(\underline{i}.\underline{e}.,$ the area under the intensity curve for the line) is directly proportional to the concentration of the ion in the total ion beam for that exposure.

One major phenomenon which limits sensitivity is secondary blackening. Secondary blackening is due to two major causes (47): charge exchange between ions and neutral species producing diffuse bands which occur in predictable regions of the spectrum, and blackened regions, known as "fog" or "halo", near major elemental lines, which are produced by several complex mechanisms (49,50). Several methods have been used to reduce this blackening (51-55). One important method involves a developing process by which the emulsion is first bleached and then allowed to undergo internal development (56). This method can improve the sensitivity by a factor of three (57).

The recorded mass spectra are evaluated by computer methods. The microphotometer which measures the positions and transmissions of the spectral lines produces data which are treated by means of a number of computer programs. These programs determine the exact m/z values for the lines and the ion concentrations. Other programs evaluate the results and the exposure data to determine the elemental concentrations in the sample.

The precision obtainable by this method of analysis is generally about $\pm 20\%$ relative standard deviation (r.s.d.) (29). The accuracy is generally about $\pm 30\%$ r.s.d. Isotope dilution SSMS (28) and recent developments in the use of electrical detection (58) improve both the precision and accuracy to $\pm 3-5\%$ r.s.d.

III. REVIEW OF RELATED WORK

A. Other Methods of Analysis for Coal and Ashes

1. Instrumental neutron activation analysis

The multielemental method for analysis used most often for coal and ash is instrumental neutron activation analysis (INAA) using thermal neutrons. INAA is a nondestructive technique potentially capable of simultaneous multielement detection. The time of analysis per sample can be small because many samples can be irradiated at once. This method is especially good for the assay of minor and trace elements in coal because the major constituents of coal, carbon, oxygen and hydrogen, are not activated by thermal neutrons. The normal procedure used in INAA is to dry the samples and place them in polyethylene vials for short irradiation periods, or quartz vials for longer ones. Standard samples are treated in like manner. The vials are placed in the core of a nuclear reactor and irradiated by thermal neutrons. The vials are removed and the gamma-ray spectra of the samples and standards are counted and energy analyzed at a fixed geometry using a Ge(Li) detector. The counting data are processed by computer and the analytical results are reported. Every isotope has a unique half-life and gamma-ray emission energy. The intensity of the emission of an element is proportional to its concentration.

Many analyses have been performed on NBS coal and ash standards to demonstrate the applicability of INAA to the analysis of these types of samples (59-74). Differences in matrix between samples and standards

are not important because only the nuclear properties of the elements are involved in the analyses (60). The coincidence of gamma-rays emitted by certain elements and their measurement by dual detectors has been used to improve the sensitivity of the method for some elements (65). The level of the thermal neutron flux (68) and the energy of the impinging neutrons can be selected to improve the analytical results for certain elements (71). The precision and accuracy of the method is generally $\pm 10\%$ or better for most elements. As many as 42 elements have been detected simultaneously in standard samples (72). Coal and ash samples from power plants have been analyzed by this method (5,75-82) using NBS standards and samples from other sources as standards. As many as 44 elements in real samples have been analyzed successfully with elemental precisions and accuracies ranging from $\pm 5-20\%$ (78).

Radiochemical separations are performed when spectral interferences occur. The irradiated samples are dissolved and the elements of interest are separated from interferences by chromatographic (83-89), distillation (90,91), or other suitable methods (92-95).

Irradiation with epithermal neutrons improves the sensitivity of the method for a number of elements (96-101). Irradiation with both thermal and epithermal neutrons can improve the analytical results for up to 44 elements in power plant and standard samples (97,102,103).

2. Neutron-capture prompt gamma-ray activation analysis

Neutron-capture prompt gamma-ray activation analysis (PGAA) is a technique very similar to INAA. The method of sample preparation and

irradiation is the same, but the gamma-rays emitted immediately after neutron-capture are detected. The emission of some elements which do not yield convenient radioisotopes for detection by INAA can be measured. Most of the analyses performed by PGAA have concerned NBS and Illinois State Geological Survey coal and ash standard samples (74,104-107). As many as 17 elements have been analyzed simultaneously with precisions and accuracies as good as or better than $\pm 10\%$ (74,107).

3. Instrumental photon activation analysis

Instrumental photon activation analysis (IPAA) is a technique also very similar to INAA. The samples are irradiated with high energy electrons (MeV range) instead of neutrons. The electron energies are selected to yield the best sensitivities for the elements of interest. The gamma-ray emission is detected in the same manner as in INAA. Most of the analyses performed by IPAA have concerned NBS coal and ash standard samples (62,72,93,108-110). As many as 36 elements have been analyzed simultaneously with precisions and accuracies as good as or better than $\pm 10\%$ (72). IPAA is often used in conjunction with INAA to provide the best sensitivity possible for each element of interest by judicious selection (62,72,93).

4. X-ray fluorescence spectrometry

X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (XRF) is also a nondestructive, sensitive, multielemental method of analysis for coal and ash samples. An advantage of XRF over INAA is that a nuclear reactor is not needed. Samples are commonly prepared by homogeneous mixing with a pure, self-binding support material which has a noninterfering XRF spectrum. The mixture is pressed to form a thin disk and placed in the spectrometer. An x-ray tube and interchangeable secondary targets $(\underline{e}.\underline{g}., Zr, Mo, Tb, Ag)$ are used to produce nearly monochromatic excitation radiation for each group of elements of interest. The fluorescence is detected using a Si(Li) detector. Energy-dispersive XRF permits simultaneous detection of all radiations. The spectrometer is calibrated by using standard samples. A variety of methods are used to correct for matrix effects and background radiation.

Many analyses have been performed on NBS standard coal and ash samples (4,79,82,111-115) to demonstrate the applicability of this method to the analysis of these types of samples. As many as 40 elements have been detected simultaneously in these standard samples with precisions and accuracies better than $\pm 10\%$ (112). Coal and ash samples collected from power plants have been analyzed (4,79,91,115,116) using NBS standards and samples from other sources as standards. As many as 29 elements in real samples have been analyzed successfully with precisions and accuracies ranging from $\pm 5-10\%$ (115).

5. Atomic emission spectroscopy

Atomic emission spectroscopy (AES) has been used extensively for the analysis of coal and ash samples. The instrument has an excitation source, of which there are several different types, a monochromator for single elemental analysis or a polychromator for multielemental analysis, and a detector, usually either a photographic plate or film

(spectrography), or a photomultiplier tube or tubes (spectrometry). The photographic method of detection requires the calibration of the emulsion. A rotating stepped sector disk is used to record different exposure levels and the step ratio determines the manner in which the emulsion is calibrated. The internal standard method of analysis is generally used with photographic detection. A spectrometer is calibrated with standard solutions. The types of samples to be analyzed and the elements of interest determine the type of excitation source used.

In the past, the excitation source used most often for the analysis of coal and ash samples has been the d.c. arc (91,117-124). The analyses have generally been multielemental using photographic detection (118-122, 124). The powdered sample is homogeneously mixed with the internal standard and placed in the cup of a graphite sample electrode. The sample is excited by the d.c. arc produced between sample and counter electrodes. As many as 36 elements have been detected in 900 ashed coal samples (121) and the precision and accuracy of the method is usually better than $\pm 15\%$ (91,117,119,123,124). The a.c. arc (125) and spark (124) excitation sources have also been used to analyze these types of samples.

The inductively coupled plasma excitation source requires dissolution of the sample. The sample solution is injected into a radio frequency excited, inductively coupled argon plasma. The atomic emission of the sample constituents is diffracted by a grating in a polychromator and the spectrum is detected simultaneously by a series of photomultipliers. Also, a computer controlled scanning monochromator, which

can increase the number of elements detected, can be used in place of the polychromator arrangement (126,127). Fusion dissolution methods have been the most successful for coal and ash analysis by this technique (61,127). As many as 28 elements have been detected in NBS standard and power plant coal and ash samples with precisions and accuracies as good as $\pm 3\%$ (61).

Gas chromatography-microwave emission spectroscopy (GC-MES) is an AES technique which is normally used for the single elemental detection of certain volatile metalloids in coal and ash samples (79,128,129). The samples are dissolved and the elements of interest are complexed selectively by organic chelates. The sample is injected into a GC and the scparated elements enter a quartz tube containing an argon microwave plasma. The emission enters a monochromator and elemental detection is achieved using a photomultiplier tube. Arsenic (129) and selenium (79, 128) have been detected in NBS and power plant samples with precisions and accuracies better than $\pm 5\%$. Other excitation sources which have been used for single elemental analysis of these samples are the radio frequency (r.f.) furnace (130) and the helium glow discharge (131).

6. Atomic absorption spectrometry

Atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) has been used extensively for the analysis of individual elements in coal and ash samples. The spectrometer has a source of absorption radiation (<u>e.g.</u>, hollow cathode lamp, electrodeless discharge lamp), a means of atomizing the sample, of which there are several, a monochromator, and a detector, usually a photomultiplier tube. The spectrometer is calibrated with standard solutions. The source lamp must be changed for each element of interest and the instrument recalibrated. The types of samples to be analyzed and the elements of interest determine the type of sample atomization used.

Sample atomization by flame is a method commonly used for the analysis of coal and ash samples (4,5,31,82,91,132-137). The flame is produced by the ignition of a mixture of an organic gas and oxidizer gas (<u>e.g.</u>, acetylene-air, acetylene-oxygen). The sample is dissolved and aspirated into the flame absorption cell of the spectrometer. The flame atomizes the sample and the absorption of the element of interest is measured. A variety of fusion and acid dissolution methods have been used for coal and ash samples. As many as 17 elements in NBS and power plant ash samples (137) and 8 elements in NBS and power plant coal samples (31) have been detected with precisions and accuracies better than $\pm 5\%$.

Sample atomization by a graphite furnace can improve the sensitivity of the method for many elements (31,80,91,134,135,137-143). The furnace is a hollow graphite cylinder electrically connected to a low voltage high current supply. Several microliters of sample solution are injected into the furnace through a small hole in the cylinder. The power supply is programmed to first dry the sample, then ash any residue, and finally atomize the sample. The absorption signal is measured by a photomultiplier tube. This technique is rapid; the time of analysis can be as little as 30 seconds. Eleven elements in NBS

standard fly ash (134) and six elements in power plant coal samples (31) have been detected with precisions and accuracies similar to the flame technique. Analyses using a silica furnace (144) and a r.f. furnace (130) have also been performed. A direct method of analysis for lead in ash has been developed using this technique (145). The sample is ground and mixed with pure graphite powder and placed in a graphite cup. The cup is heated to a temperature which volatilizes and atomizes the lead, but not the matrix.

Mercury, a highly volatile element, is easily lost during sample preparation. A large number of flamelcss methods of sample atomization have been developed to counteract this problem (4,61,77,79,80,146-151). Most of these methods use a digestion (146-148) or combustion (149,150)technique to release the mercury from the sample. Then the mercury is either adsorbed on an appropriate support and atomized in a furnace absorption cell (146,149,150), or transported to an unheated absorption cell by an appropriate carrier gas (61,80,147,148,151). The precision and accuracy attained by most of these methods have been better than $\pm 10\%$.

A number of other spectroscopic methods of analysis for individual elements in coal and ash samples have been developed. Colorimetric methods have been used for the analysis of arsenic (152-156), mercury (77,157), zinc (158), boron (80), lead (159), and beryllium (160). Fluorimetric methods have been used for the analysis of selenium (80) and uranium (161-163). Precisions and accuracies are generally as good as or better than $\pm 10\%$.

7. Specific ion electrodes

Specific ion electrodes have also been used for the analysis of individual elements in coal and ash samples. The sample is dissolved and an appropriate ionic strength buffer added to the solution. The specific ion activity is measured by the ion-selective electrode for the element of interest <u>versus</u> a saturated calomel reference electrode. The concentration of the element is determined by the method of standard additions or calibration with standard solutions. The halogens are the elements most often analyzed by this method. Fluorine (61,91,164) and chlorine (61) concentrations in NBS coal and power plant coal and ash samples have been determined with precisions and accuracies as good as $\pm 2\%$ (61).

8. Anodic stripping voltammetry

Anodic stripping voltammetry is another electrochemical method which has been used for the analysis of individual elements in coal and ash samples. The sample is dissolved and the solution conditions adjusted to allow for the electroanalysis of the element of interest. Inert analytical and counter electrodes are placed in the solution along with a saturated calomel reference electrode. A potential is applied to the electrolytic cell which will cause electrodeposition of the analyte onto the surface of the analytical electrode. The potential is then scanned to a value which completely strips the analyte from the electrode surface. The resulting current (I) <u>versus</u> potential (E) curve is recorded. The area under this curve is proportional to the concentration

of the analyte. Concentrations are commonly determined using the method of standard additions. Cadmium, lead, and zinc have been detected in power plant fly ash samples (80) and selenium has been detected in NBS standard coal and fly ash samples (165).

Other types of analytical methods which have been used for the analysis of individual elements in coal and ash samples are titrimetric (166-168) and gravimetric (169).

B. Accuracy of the Analysis of Samples Related to Coal and Geological Materials by Spark Source Mass Spectrography

There are a number of advantages to performing the analysis of coal and other types of geological materials by spark source mass spectrography (SSMS) (36). The technique is multielemental, simultaneously detecting more elements than INAA (170). SSMS is highly sensitive with detection limits for the elements in geological matrices ranging from 5-20 ppb by weight (36,171). Also, SSMS does not exhibit order of magnitude variations in sensitivity for different elements in the same matrix like INAA and AAS (172). Only a small amount of sample is needed for an analysis, a minimum of about 10 mg, and the time of analysis per element detected is low (36).

There are a number of factors which determine the precision and accuracy of an analysis by SSMS. The homogeneity of the sample electrodes is important (28,173-177). Care must be taken not only to insure the homogeneity of the sample and sample-graphite mixture, but

also the homogeneity of the internal standard in the electrodes if the doping method is used (172,178). Homogenizing methods vary from simple grinding and thorough mixing to complex methods of dilution by multiple fusion (35,188). The error due to sample electrode inhomogeneity can be less than 5% (35,36,174). The shape of the sample electrodes should be consistent (28,38,179,180). The spark parameters (e.g., repetition rate, pulse length) and spark gap width should be constant (28,35,38,171,173, 178,177,179-183). These parameters affect the relative elemental ionization efficiency in the spark and the ion charge distribution in the spark plasma (31,173,178,183). Generally, changes in the gap width have a greater effect than does pulse repetition rate and pulse length (177). Use of the ion intensity ratio of the analyte and internal standard from the same exposure in determining elemental concentrations can minimize the effect of spark variations (36). The effect of changes in the gap width and ion charge distribution can be minimized by stabilizing the intensities of the matrix lines (184). The positioning of the spark with respect to the entrance slit should be consistent (28,177). The spark position determines what portion of the inhomogeneous spark plasma is sampled by the mass spectrograph (38, 175-177,179,180). Other factors concern variations in the ion current at the monitor (177,185) and the spark discharge with time caused by circuitry instability, aging, and other time related variations (171, 184). Also, the vacuum in the ion source should be consistent (28).

The photoplate should be properly aligned in the focal plane of the spectrograph, otherwise there could be a loss of resolution (186,

187). The photoplate emulsion should be consistent across the plate and between plates (28,36,171,173,177). The inhomogeneity of the emulsion limits the analytical precision to 3-5% (36,173,177). A reproducible procedure for the developing of the photoplates should be used (28). Another factor is the variation in the microphotometer line transmittance values (31,175,177). The spectral line width is dependent on the ion path length in the magnetic analyzer and is directly proportional to the square root of the m/z ratio. A correction in the calculation of ion intensities should be made for this phenomenon if only peak heights are measured (28,31,36,175,180,185,189,190). Errors caused by line width, space-charge broadening, and other variations in line shape can be minimized by using line area in the calculation of ion intensity (173,175,180,186,187). The line transmittances should also be corrected for background (28,31,175,190). The sensitivity is limited for low mass ions and the +2 ions of the transition metals by the background fog caused by the sample matrix and the graphite in the electrodes (191). A number of methods of correction for errors caused by spectral interferences have been devised (36,172,175,177,178,185,189,192). The sensitivity of the photographic emulsion is also dependent on the mass and energy of the impinging ions (31,36,173,175). A number of equations have been derived from experimental observations to correct for this emulsion dependence (28). This characteristic of the emulsion is discussed more thoroughly in Chapter IV of this dissertation.

The choice of the internal standard can affect the precision and accuracy (172,175,178,185,190). A number of criteria for the selection
of internal standards have been published (172,175,178,190). The accuracy of the determination of the relative sensitivity of this method for elements in a certain sample matrix affects the precision and accuracy of the analysis (28,31,34-36,38,171-178,180-182,185,188-190, 192-196). The relative elemental sensitivity is dependent on the elemental ionization potential (36,38,172,175,176,180,185,189,192), volatility (35,36,38,172,175,176,180,182,185,189,192), and ionization cross-section, which is determined by the atomic covalent radius (172, 175,181,194). The measure of elemental volatility normally used is the boiling point (36), but melting point (182), heat of sublimation (185, 205), and vapor pressure (187) have also been used. Thermal ionization caused by overheating the electrodes can cause variable elemental sensitivity (35,172). The electrodes can overheat if the spark parameters are not carefully controlled, but this effect can be minimized by cooling the electrodes (182). The elemental volatility has a greater effect on the relative sensitivity than the ionization potential (36, 172,178,182). The method is most sensitive to volatile elements with low ionization potentials (e.g., the alkali metals), which are most subject to problems with thermal ionization. The method is less sensitive to volatile elements with high ionization potentials (e.g., antimony, thallium, lead) and least sensitive to involatile elements (e.g., iridium, zirconium). Some researchers believe that the ionization cross-section has a greater effect on the relative elemental sensitivity than the other parameters (194). The relative elemental sensitivities have been determined by the use of empirical equations

2ô

derived from these sensitivity parameters (185,197,205). However, these empirical values can be in error by as much as 40-50% (196). Another method of determining the relative elemental sensitivities is by the analysis of standard samples (36,171,172,174,175,177,185,190,192,195, 196,198-204). The sensitivities are determined by comparison of the experimental values with the "true" values determined by independent methods. The accuracy of this method is limited by the accuracy of the independent determinations. The accuracy can be better than $\pm 10\%$ if the spectra of both the unknown and standard sample are recorded on the same photoplate (195). If good standard samples are not available, synthetic standards can be prepared (35,178,189,192). Pure materials are mixed to simulate the sample matrix and this mixture is doped with the elements of interest. The final mixture is then thoroughly homogenized. Some researchers report that the relative sensitivities are not dependent on the sample matrix (36,178), but other researchers do report a matrix dependence (34,35,177,193).

Coal, ash, and other types of geological materials have been analyzed semiquantitatively by SSMS (198,200,206-210). Corrections for relative elemental sensitivities are not used in semiquantitative analysis. The analytical results are usually within a factor of three of the actual values. These materials have also been analyzed quantitatively by SSMS using methods of correcting for the relative sensitivities. The sample is often doped with an internal standard. The internal standard is usually an element which has a concentration in the sample below the detection limit of SSMS for that element. The

relative elemental sensitivities are normalized in reference to the standard. Empirical corrections for relative sensitivity have been used in the analysis of these materials (185). Corrections based on the results of the analysis of well-characterized standard samples (36,171, 172,175,188,190,199) and synthetic standards (35,178,189) have also been used. The internal standard can also be an element already present in the sample matrix. The analytical results obtained using this method of selection of the internal standard can be just as accurate as those results obtained by use of the doping method (190). Most of the analyses of these materials using the undoped method have used corrections for sensitivity based on the analysis of standard samples (192,199,202,203). Other analyses of such materials have been performed (18,31,211,212). The quantitative results have an average accuracy of $\pm 30\%$ or better, but the average accuracy can be as good as $\pm 10\%$ for as many as 15-20 elements (188). More than sixty elements can be determined quantitatively in one analysis (190). If fewer than twenty elements are of interest (30), isotope dilution SSMS can be used to improve the average analytical accuracy to a value less than ±10% (172). Other analyses of these materials have been performed by isotope dilution SSMS (174,197,213).

IV. IMPROVEMENTS IN THE ANALYTICAL METHOD OF SSMS

A. Time of Analysis

The time of analysis per sample should be short enough to minimize spectral aberrations caused by instrumental instability. Another advantage of a short time of analysis is rapid data acquisition. However, the time of analysis should be long enough to allow for the detection of the ultra-trace elements in a sample. The time of analysis can be shortened by increasing the ion current to the maximum level before which spectral aberrations caused by space-charge broadening and overheating the sample electrodes become a problem. A rectangular aperture, 0.51 x 1.5 mm, was chosen for the anode plate. This increased the ion current to a level greater than that obtained with a circular aperture and also minimized the buildup of sample on the ion beam collimating slits. This buildup can contribute to instrumental memory. A notch, which fits over a peg in the ion source, was cut into the anode plate to provide for the rapid and reproducible alignment of the plate in the optical path of the spectrograph. The spark parameters and greatest exposure level to be used in the analysis of the ash and ashed coal samples collected for the research project were determined by a series of experiments. The repetition rate and pulse length of the spark, and the amount of charge put on the photoplate were varied. The amount of time needed to complete the exposure was measured. The sample sparked in these experiments was a fly ash collected from an electrostatic precipitator hopper at the Iowa State University Power Plant.

The experimental results are reported in Table IV-1. A time duration

Repetition Rate (sec ⁻¹)	-	Pulse Length (µsec)	Exposure Level (nC)	Time Duration (min)
100	_	3.2	600 200 70 20	36 12 4 1.2
			300 100 30 10	20 6 2 0.8
32	-	10	400 100 30 10	49 7 2 0.8
32	-	32	500 200 70 20	32 12 5 1.2

Table IV-1. Time of analysis experiments

for the longest exposure of no more than 30 minutes was desired. An exposure level of 450 nanocoulombs (nC) for the longest exposure and a repetition rate-pulse length of 100 s⁻¹ - 3.2 μ s were chosen because 450 nC was great enough to allow for the detection of the ultra-trace elements and 100 s⁻¹ - 3.2 μ s provided reproducible sparking conditions with minimal spark aberrations and sample overheating (187). Together these choices met the 30 minute time duration requirement.

Four sample spectra were exposed on each photoplate to minimize the cost of the project due to the photoplates, but still allow room for a sufficient number of exposure levels to cover the desired elemental concentration range in the samples. Seven exposures per sample fit on the photoplate. The seven exposure levels initially chosen, represented by the charge on a precision capacitor, were 450, 150, 30, 10, 3, 0.3, and 0.03 nC. However, the <u>actual</u> exposure levels recorded on the same basis when the samples collected for this project were analyzed were 450, 150, 30, 10, 15, 1.5, and 0.15 nC. The changes for the three shortest exposures are due to stray capacitances in the monitoring circuitry that were not discovered until after all of the samples were analyzed. These exposure levels provided a total time of analysis per sample of approximately 45 minutes.

B. Sparking of the Sample

A high electrical contact resistance between the graphite-ash sample electrodes and the sample holders can cause spark instability. In some cases, sparking has even been observed between the metal sample holders and sample electrodes instead of between just the sample electrodes (187). A method of reducing this contact resistance was developed. The graphite-ash sample mixture was compressed in a polyethylene mold around a 0.5 mm diameter pure silver wire. The pressure applied to the mold by a hydraulic press was 40,000 psi for a period of 45 seconds. The wire supported the sample with approximately 5 mm of wire left exposed to be gripped by the sample holders. A diagram of the

mold and wire is shown in Fig. IV-1. The resistance between the sample holder and electrode was reduced greatly. The wire directed the current through the sample and sparking was observed only between the graphiteash electrodes. Another advantage of the wire sample support (214) was the greatly reduced chance of breaking the brittle compacted graphite electrodes when being gripped by the sample holders.

C. Calibration of the Photographic Emulsion

The calibration of the photographic emulsion is an important step in the SSMS analytical procedure. Any error in the calibration will adversely affect the accuracy of the analytical results (36,194). The calibration curve is a plot of the transmittance of a mass spectral line versus the logarithm (log) of the ion intensity. Historically, the first methods of calibration were graphical. The "many isotope method" uses the measured transmittances of the isotopic lines from elements which have several stable isotopes (e.g., Cd, Sn, Os, Hg) plotted versus the log (isotopic abundance) to construct the calibration curve (215). A modified "many isotope method" has been developed which increases the number of elements available for the construction of the curve (178). The Churchill Two-line method uses the transmittance ratios of only two isotopic lines from a single element, but many pairs from different exposures, to construct a preliminary curve (216). The line transmittances of the more abundant isotope are plotted versus the line transmittances of the less abundant isotope. The points on the preliminary curve are used to construct the calibration curve. These



Figure IV-1. Polyethylene mold and Ag wire support

line transmittance points are plotted <u>versus</u> the log (isotopic abundance ratio), which is a measure of the log (ion intensity). Only elements which have isotopic pairs with the ratio of their abundances in the 1.2 to 3 range can be used (38,217). This method of calibration has been used in the analysis of coal and ash samples by SSMS (197,212) besides in other work (176,178,183,218-220).

The calibration curve of transmittance <u>versus</u> log (ion intensity) has a limited linear portion (38). A number of methods have been developed to extend the linear portion. The Seidel transformation (221) extends the linear portion by plotting the lot (1/T - 1), where T is the line transmittance, <u>versus</u> log (ion intensity) to construct the calibration curve. The extension of the linear portion increases the useful working range of the curve (36,185,189,192,220,222). The McCrea transformation (223) extends the linear portion by plotting the "reduced transmission", defined as T' = $(T_{g}-T_{s})/(T_{b}-T_{s})$, where T_{g} is the line transmittance, <u>versus</u> the log (ion intensity). The Wagner transformation (224) extends the linear portion into the high transmittance range (<u>i.e.</u>, for faint lines). The log[log(1/T)] is plotted versus the log (ion intensity) to construct the calibration curve.

Mathematical formulae have been derived to describe the calibration curve. These formulae are especially useful for computer application (38). The Hull equation (225) is derived empirically. It takes the form:

log (ion intensity) =
$$\frac{1}{R} \log \left(\frac{1-T_{\ell}}{T_{\ell}-T_{s}}\right)$$
 - log k (IV-1)

$$T_{l} = T_{s} + \frac{1 - T_{s}}{1 + [k(\text{ion intensity})]^{R}}$$
 (IV-2)

where T_{g} is line transmittance and T_{s} is saturation transmittance. The parameter R is a measure of the slope of the curve and the constant k is a measure of the sensitivity of the emulsion. The parameters R and T_{s} permit a least-squares fit of the formula to experimental transmittance values. The Hull equation has been shown to be quite useful in SSMS work (198,226-230) and an improvement over other methods of calibration (231,232). The Kinoshita equation (233) is derived theoretically. It takes the form:

$$T_{\ell} = 1 - [1 - T_{s}(1 - e^{-q(\text{ion intensity})})]$$
 (IV-3)

where q is the mean cross-section of the silver halide grains. The equation is mainly useful for faint lines (38). The Franzen-Maurer-Schuy equation (44) is derived theoretically and is based on the Kinoshita equation (38). It takes the form:

$$\log (\text{ion intensity}) = \log \left[\left(\frac{1 - T_s}{T_\ell - T_s} \right)^{1/V} - 1 \right] - \log \frac{e}{V(1 - T_s)} \quad (IV-4)$$
or
$$T_\ell = T_s + \frac{1 - T_s}{(1 + \frac{e(\text{ion intensity})}{V(1 - T_s)})^V} \quad (IV-5)$$

or

where e is a measure of the sensitivity of the emulsion and V is a measure of the slope of the calibration curve. This equation is useful over the entire range of the calibration curve (38,195).

These methods of calibration all have both advantages and disadvantages. The "many isotope method" can be used only if at least one of the useful elements is in the sample with a sufficiently high concentration (38). The Churchill method uses only one element to determine the curve (234) and does not take into account the dependence of the emulsion response to ion mass (38,195,217), line width variation with ion mass (217), emulsion and background variations across the photoplate (38,195), instrumental mass discrimination (38), and errors in tabulated isotopic abundance values (38,195). Small errors in the measurement of the ion intensity ratios can be magnified to the tenth to twentieth power (195). However, one advantage of this method is that it does not presuppose the shape of the calibration curve like the methods based on mathematical formulae do (217). The linearization transformations are generally useful for only limited sections of the curve (38). The Hull equation has a number of advantages. It uses much more data to construct the calibration curve than used by the graphical methods (195), the magnitude of the working range of the curve is 1000 (231), the equation is useful in computer applications (38,195,235), but the equation is useful for only singly charged ions (38). The Kinoshita formula includes a number of theoretical factors, but is useful for only faint lines (38). The Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula also has a number of advantages like the Hull and Kinoshita

formulae (38,235). This formula uses a large quantity of data to construct the calibration curve, includes a number of theoretical factors, is useful in computer applications and for singly and multiply charged ions, and the working range extends over the entire curve.

The method of emulsion calibration chosen for the research project described in this dissertation was a computer application of the Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula. The steps in the calibration procedure were:

- 1. Set the value of T_s to 0.005.
- Calculate V from the transmittance values for each isotopic pair using the Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula.
- 3. Average the values of V for the pair.
- Calculate the isotopic abundance ratio using the Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula for each pair using the average value of V.
- Compare the calculated ratio to the actual ratio for each pair and calculate deviations.
- 6. Average the deviations.
- 7. Increase and decrease T_s by steps and repeat the procedure for each step until a minimum average deviation is found.

The value of T_s and average V which produce the minimum average deviation are the saturation and slope parameters for the photoplate. Thirty-one photoplates from the same batch containing the mass spectra for the ash and ashed coal samples analyzed for this research project were calibrated. The isotopic pairs selected for the calibration were $63,65_{Cu}+2$, $135,137_{Ba}+2$, $90,91_{Zr}+1$, $135,138_{Ba}+1$, $136,138_{Ba}+1$, and $^{137,138}Ba^{+1}$. These pairs were selected because of their freedom from spectral interferences and each ratio of their abundances was greater than 1.5 but less than 20. The transmittance values of the spectral lines used were at least 20% darker than background (<u>i.e.</u>, $T_{\rm b}$ = 80%, faintest ${\rm T}_{\rm g}$ measured was 60%). Also, a few transmittance values close to saturation were used to better approximate T_s . Emulsion variation between plates of the same batch has been shown to be slight when compared to other sources of error in the calibration procedure (176, 185,218,219,236). The data from the 31 photoplates were combined for each isotopic pair. The data for the three Ba⁺¹ pairs were combined because of the close proximity of the spectral lines. The data for each set of pairs were averaged and "bad data" were excluded using the Chauvenet criterion for rejection (237). The calibration results are reported in Table IV-2. The increase in V and the slight increase in $\rm T_{s}$ with increasing m/z ratio are surprising. The increase in V

	Cu ⁺²	Ba ⁺²	Zr ^{+]}	Ba ^{+]}
Av. V	1.073	1.385	1.652	2.275
% rel. std. dev.	8.0	2.5	7.1	22.1
Av. T _s	0.0067	0.0077	0.0080	0.0084
Range	0.004-	0.006-	0.005-	0.006-
	0.009	0.010	0.011	0.011

Table IV-2. Photoplate calibration results

indicates an increase in the slope of the calibration curve with increasing m/z ratio (38). The slight increase in T_s indicates that the dependence of T_s on the m/z ratio is minor. These results contradict the results reported by other researchers (46,47,176,222, 224,227,230,235,238,239). These researchers found an overall decrease in slope and a significant increase in T_s for increasing m/z ratios. Their results indicate an overall decrease in the sensitivity of the emulsion with increasing m/z ratio while the results reported here indicate an overall increase in sensitivity.

To verify the results, the calibration curves for the four sets of isotopic pairs were constructed using the Churchill method (216). The curves are shown in Fig. IV-2. The curves do verify the overall increase in slope and the relative insignificance of the slight increase in T_s . The average value of V increases linearly with $(m/z)^{1.5}$ as defined by:

$$V = (8.60 \times 10^{-4}) (m/z)^{1.5} + 0.905$$
 (IV-6)

A theoretical explanation of the observed increase in sensitivity with increasing m/z ratio is provided by interactions between energetic ions and matter observed in nuclear and radiochemistry (240). The penetration of an ion into a substance is directly proportional to its momentum, but inversely proportional to the square of the charge on the ion. The greater the penetration of the ion into the photographic emulsion, the more sensitive the emulsion is to the detection of that ion and the greater the value of V. For SSMS work, these quantities can be stated mathematically by:



Figure IV-2. Photoplate calibration curves (Churchill method)

mv = momentum of ion

$$z^2$$
 = coulombic force
Pz = kinetic energy of ion, where P is the acceleration
potential
 $\frac{mv}{z^2} \cdot Pz = \frac{mvP}{z}$
(IV-7)

The value of P is constant for all of the ions formed in the ion source, thus:

$$V_{\alpha} \frac{mv}{z}$$
 (IV-8)

The average values of V are plotted <u>versus</u> $(m/z)^{1.5}$ and $(mv/z)^{1.0}$ in Fig. IV-3. These plots illustrate that this theoretical explanation for the observed increase in V with increasing m/z ratio is valid. Equation IV-6 was used to determine the value of V to be used in the calculation of the intensity of each ion using the Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula. The quantity T_s was set equal to 0.008 for all of the ions because of the insignificance of its variation across the photoplate. This insignificance is shown by the ranges of T_s for each set of isotopic pairs in Table IV-2. The ranges of T_s values covered by all of the sets of pairs are nearly the same.



Figure IV-3. Dependence of V on ion mass and energy

V. ANALYSIS OF STANDARD AND IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY POWER PLANT COAL AND ASH SAMPLES BY SSMS

A. Experimental

1. Instrumentation

The analyses of the coal and ash samples collected for this project were performed using a GRAF 2.2 spark source mass spectrograph manufactured by Nuclide Corp., State College, PA. The instrument was modified here for automatic control of the spark and illumination angle of the ion optical axis. The photographic plates used to record the mass spectra were Ilford Q-2 plates manufactured by Ilford Ltd., Manchester, U.K. The mass spectral lines were read with a microphotometer manufactured by Jarrell-Ash Co., Newtonville, MA, Model #2100. The analytical data were processed by a LSI-11 microprocessor computer system.

2. Sampling procedure

The Iowa State University Power Plant burns a mixture of high-sulfur Iowa coal and low-sulfur Colorado coal to meet the sulfur emission standards of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) with minimal fuel costs. The Iowa and Colorado coals are shipped from mines located near Lovilia, Iowa, and Craig, Colorado, respectively. The plant has six boilers and arrangements were made for the collection of coal and ash samples from boiler #4. Boiler #4 is a spreader-stoker unit in which approximately 40% of the ash left after combustion is carried out of the combustion zone with the flue gas (241). The remaining 60%, the heavy ash fraction, falls below the boiler grates as bottom ash. The fly ash first encounters a primary dust collector (PDC), which is approximately 85% efficient, and then an electrostatic precipitator (EP), which is approximately 97% efficient. The relative distribution of the total ash collected is approximately 60% bottom ash, 34% primary dust collector fly ash, and 6% electrostatic precipitator fly ash. The plant burned only the Iowa coal in this boiler during August, 1979, and only the Colorado coal during September, 1979. The schedule for the collection of the coal and ash samples is reported in Table V-1. Twelve samples were collected for each type of sample.

Procedures used for the collection of the Power Plant samples and their preparation for analysis were according to American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) standard test methods (242,243). The sampling method used for the raw coal was adapted from test method D2234-76. The top size of the coal entering the boiler was less than 50 mm, so 35 increments, weighing 3 kg each, were collected per sample. The increments were combined and the size of the gross sample was reduced using a procedure adapted from test method D2013-72. The gross sample was coned and quartered down to a weight of 12 kg. The sample was crushed using a jaw crusher to a size which would pass through a No. 4 sieve. The size of the sample was reduced using a riffle to a weight of 4 kg and then the sample was ground using a face grinder to a size which would pass through a No. 20 sieve. The size was then reduced to a weight of 500 g and the sample was ground again to a size which would pass

Sample type	Date sampled	No, of samples collected
Iowa Coal	8/15/79 8/16/79 8/17/79	4 4 4
Bottom Ash	8/15/79 8/16/79 8/17/79	4 4 4
Fly Ash-PDC	8/15/79 8/16/79 8/17/79	4 4 4
Fly Ash-EP	8/15/79 8/16/79 8/17/79	4 4 4
Colorado Coal	9/19/79 9/20/79 9/21/79	4 4 4
Bottom Ash	9/19/79 9/20/79 9/21/79	4 4 4
Fly Ash-PDC	9/19/79 9/20/79 9/21/79	4 4 4
Fly Ash-EP	9/19/79 9/20/79 9/21/79	4 4 4

Table V-1. Schedule for power plant sampling

through a No. 60 sieve. The sample was riffled to a final weight of 50 g. All of the ash samples were collected using a procecure adapted from test method C311-77. The ash samples were collected from their respective hoppers in one-liter polyethylene bottles. The gross sample weight was at least 2 kg. The size and weight of the samples were reduced using the same procedure used for the coal samples.

Eleven standard coal samples were acquired from sources and locations reported in Table V-2. These samples were selected because they come from different and diverse geographical areas and their trace elemental concentrations cover a broad range of values. One standard ash sample (SRM 1633) was acquired from the National Bureau of Standards (NBS). Large amounts of organic material in samples analyzed by SSMS can adversely affect the analytical results (201,244,245). The ashing method selected for the coals was low-temperature ashing (LTA) (246-249). The samples are placed in Pyrex boats which are placed inside the ashing chambers. A high frequency electromagnetic field, produced by a radio frequency oscillator, surrounds the samples. The chambers are evacuated and dry oxygen gas enters the chambers. The oscillator is turned on and the field produces a reactive oxygen species which oxidizes the organic material. The chambers are pumped to remove the reaction products and maintain a fresh supply of oxygen. The temperature of the sample usually does not exceed 200°C because the oxidizing process is a slow chemical reaction (246,247). A dry ashing method was chosen because reagents used in wet ashing methods can add contaminants to the samples (250,251). This low-temperature method was chosen because the majority

4ó

Table V-2. Standard coal samples

Source	Sample No.	Origin	Location
National Bureau of Standards	SRM 1632-coal SRM 1635-subbitumine coal	 DUS	
Illinois State Geological Survey	C13464 C16030 C16408	Herrin #6 Herrin #6 Chapel #8	Williamson County, IL
United States Geological Survey	PAS16 DAS47	Jpper Freeport Bed Pittsburgh Bed	Westmoreland County, PA Washington County, PA
	D160984 D165578 D165762 D165766	Nyodak Anderson Bed Beula¦ı Bed Pust Bed Pust Bed	Campbell County, WY Mercer County, ND Richland County, MT Richland County, MT

47

of elements of interest are not lost by diffusion or volatilization and the sample is less likely to be contaminated by the atmosphere or sample container than when high-temperature methods are used (61,251). This ashing method is useful for analyses performed by SSMS (251). A disadvantage of this method is the need for periodic stirring of the samples to ash them completely (248). The oxidation reaction occurs only on the surface of the sample and the time needed to complete the ashing is relatively long. All of the standard coal and Power Plant coal and ash samples were ashed to remove the majority of the organic material. All of the ashed samples were crushed using a boron carbide mortar and pestle to a size which would pass through a No. 170 sieve and thoroughly mixed using a vibrating mixer/mill. The samples were stored in 30 mL polyethylene bottles.

3. Analysis procedure

The samples were selected at random for analysis. Equal weights of the sample and spectroscopically pure graphite, manufactured by National Carbon Co., New York, NY, Grade SP-1, were mixed using a vibrating mixer/mill. Electrodes were formed from the sample-graphite mixture and sparked using the same procedures described in Chapter IV of this dissertation.

B. Results and Discussion of the Analysis of the Standard Samples

As stated in Chapter I, the sensitivity of the SSMS method of analysis is not the same for all of the elements. This difference in sensitivity can be corrected for by applying a sensitivity coefficient to the analytical results. The elemental values of the coefficients are calculated relative to that of an internal standard which is given a coefficient of 1.0. The elemental relative sensitivity coefficients (RSC) are calculated using:

$$RSC_{x} = \frac{(ppma_{x})(ATWT_{x})(ppmw_{std})}{(ppma_{std})(ATWT_{std})(ppmw_{x})}$$
(V-1)

where $ppma_x$ and $ppma_{std}$ are the concentrations of element X and the internal standard, respectively, determined by SSMS in units of ppm atomic, $ATWT_x$ and $ATWT_{std}$ are the atomic weights of element X and the internal standard, and $ppmw_x$ and $ppmw_{std}$ are the concentrations expressed in units of ppm by weight. To determine the RSC values for the elements of interest in a particular sample matrix, well-characterized standard samples with a similar matrix must be available. The RSC values for 62 elements in ashed coal and ash were calculated using the analytical results from the SSMS analysis of the standard coal and fly ash samples described earlier in this chapter and the ppm by weight values reported by the sources of the standards. Some requirements which the selected internal standard should satisfy are (187):

- The element should be homogeneously distributed throughout the sample.
- An independent method which is capable of accurate analysis of the element should be available.
- The elemental concentration should be representative of the trace elemental concentrations in the sample.
- The elemental concentration should be such that mass spectral lines with transmittance values on the linear portion of the calibration curve are available.
- 5. The elemental lines should have no spectral interferences.
- The mass spectral lines should appear in regions of the photoplate with minimal background fog.
- The element should be multiisotopic and have multiply charged lines available for obtaining accurate analytical results.
- The element should be representative of the different groups of the periodic table.
- The element should have a vapor pressure representative of the elements in the sample.
- The element should be representative of the different chemical species in the sample.
- 11. In the case of coal and ash samples, the element should be representative of the elemental organic-inorganic affinities.

No one element can satisfy all of these requirements. Three elements were selected for use as internal standards, Cu, Zr, and Ba. All three are multiisotopic with singly and multiply charged spectral lines which are free of interferences and appear in good regions of the photoplate. Barium is the most volatile and has the highest organic affinity (91) of the three. Copper is intermediate in both cases and zirconium is refractory and present in the mineral phase of the coal.

The average elemental RSC values based on Cu as the internal standard, the relative standard uncertainty in the averages, and the number of analyses from which the averages were determined are reported in Table V-3 for the ashed coal and ash matrices. One analysis of each of the eleven coal standard samples and five analyses of the one fly ash standard sample were performed. The average values were calculated, "bad data" were excluded on the basis of the Chauvenet criterion for rejection, and then final average values were computed. No RSC values are reported for S and Cl because of their variable loss during the ashing of the coal samples (61,199,248). The RSC values from the analyses of the fly ash were used for these elements in the subsequent analyses of ashed coal samples. The RSC values from the analyses of the fly ash were also used for Sn, Lu, Hf, Ta, and W in subsequent analyses because none of the sources of the standard coal samples reported concentrations for these elements. The RSC values reported for Pr, Sm, Gd, and Er are based on the values for Nd and Dy, and the values for Ho and Tm are based on the values for Eu and Tb because of the lack of concentrations reported by the sources for these elements. The RSC

	Coal				Fly Ash		
Element	RSC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	No. of analyses	RSC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	No. of analyses	
Li Be B F Nag Ali P S C I K C a c c i V C M n E O Ni U N C G e s e B R b r Y Z MO d S D I S D I S D I S C I K C a c c i V C M n E O N C I S C I K C a c c i V C M n E O S C I K C a c c i V C M n E O S C I K C a c S I V C M n E O S C I K C a c S I V C M n E O S C I K C a S C I K C a C S I V C M n E O S C I K C a S C I K C a S I I V C M B E S C I K C a S I I V C M B E S C I K C S C I K C S C I K C B S C I K C S C I K C S S I I S C I K S S I I S S C I K C S S I S S I S S I S S I S S I S S S S	$\begin{array}{c} 2.2\\ 11\\ 0.71\\ 0.25\\ 1.5\\ 0.55\\ 0.44\\ 0.57\\ 0.89\\\\ 1.5\\ 1.5\\ 1.5\\ 1.5\\ 1.6\\ 0.73\\ 1.5\\ 1.8\\ 0.59\\ 0.68\\ 1.6\\ 1.0\\ 1.7\\ 1.9\\ 2.8\\ 1.9\\ 1.4\\ 0.22\\ 0.73\\ 0.28\\ 1.9\\ 1.4\\ 0.22\\ 0.73\\ 0.28\\ 0.66\\ 1.9\\\\ 1.4\\ 0.77\\ 2.0\\ 0.35\\ 0.17\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 28\\ 40\\ 10\\ 23\\ 11\\ 5\\ 15\\ 5\\ 25\\\\ 7\\ 4.5\\ 5\\ 12\\ 13\\ 12\\ 13\\ 12\\ 13\\ 12\\ 13\\ 12\\ 13\\ 12\\ 5.4\\ 19\\\\ 7\\ 8.4\\ 36\\ 11\\ 20\\ 2.5\\ 22\\ 5.4\\ 6.4\\ 13\\ 21\\ 8.5\\\\ 15\\ 25\\ 15\\ 11\\ 8\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7 \\ 4 \\ 11 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 8 \\ 11 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ - \\ 6 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 9 \\ 8 \\ - \\ 9 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 11 \\ 5 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 5 \\ - \\ 11 \\ 3 \\ 10 \\ 8 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 9 \\ 8 \\ - \\ 9 \\ 5 \\ 5 \\ 11 \\ 5 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 5 \\ - \\ 11 \\ 3 \\ 10 \\ 8 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 $	$\begin{array}{c} 11\\ 40\\ 1.6\\ 1.8\\ 2.0\\ 0.84\\ 0.91\\ 0.44\\ 0.88\\ 1.9\\ 1.8\\ 2.0\\ 1.1\\ 0.57\\ 1.0\\ 1.4\\ 2.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.78\\ 1.0\\ 0.7\\ 0.5\\ 0.6\\ 1.3\\ 2.7\\ 1.2\\ 3.5\\ 0.7\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5\\ 0.5$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	534455555554555555555555555555555555555	

Table V-3. Relative sensitivity coefficients (RSC) using Cu as internal reference

	Coal				Fly Ash		
Element	RSC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	No. of analyses	RSC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	No. of analyses	
Ce Pr Nd Sm Eu Gd Tb Dy Ho Er Tm Yb Lu Hf Ta W Hg T1 Pb Bi Th U	0.13 0.43 0.34 0.45 1.4 0.45 1.4 0.45 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4	10 24 34 24 23 24 14 31 8 24 13 21 19 18 10 7 17 11	$ \begin{array}{r} 5 \\ -2 \\ 5 \\ -4 \\ 3 \\ \\ 4 \\ \\ 4 \\ \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 6 \\ \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 6 \\ 8 \\ \end{array} $	0.61 1.3 1.0 1.3 2.7 1.5 1.9 1.6 3.6 1.4 1.6 1.2 0.95 0.50 1.2 6.5 4.3 2.1 1.8 1.9 2.2	16 19 21 22 20 19 31 20 20 19 24 31 27 30 28 27 22 15 14 24 14 11	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 4 5 5 5 4 5 5 4 5 4 5 4	

Table V-3. (Continued)

values for these rare earths should be similar to those for Nd and Dy, and Eu and Tb (180). The RSC value for Bi in the coals is based on the values for Pb, Th, and U because of its physical similarity to these other high-mass elements and again no concentrations for this element were reported by the sources. The RSC values for Pr and Er in the fly ash are based on the values for Nd, Gd, and Dy for the same reasons as stated previously for the coals. The RSC value for Hg is based on experimental observations of in-house analytical measurements and the compilation of observations by other laboratories (187). The standard uncertainties for Li and Be are relatively high because they are monoisotopic and have only one mass spectral line located in a region of the photoplate with high background fog and subject to spectral aberrations. The uncertainties for B, F, Na, and Mg are relatively high because of the high background fog. The uncertainty for P is high in the coals because of its variable loss during ashing (250) and in the fly ash because its concentration is not well known (253). Inhomogeneity may be the reason for the relatively high uncertainties for Ni and Rb in the coals, Sr in the fly ash, and Mo in both. Variable losses during ashing may be a reason for the high uncertainties for Ge and Se in the coals because of their association with the organic fraction (91). Inhomogeneity may also be a problem. The uncertainty for Sn may be high in the ash because of its low concentration. The uncertainty for I is high in the coals because of its variable loss during ashing (61,199, 246,251,254). The uncertainty for Cs is relatively high in both the coals and fly ash because its volatility and low first ionization

potential makes its behavior during sparking erratic. The uncertainties for the rare earths in the coals and ash are high possibly because of inhomogeneity and their low concentrations. The uncertainty for Hg is high because of its loss during ashing (61,199,246,249,251,254) and erratic behavior in the spark due to its volatility. The uncertainties for Tl and Bi may be high because of their low concentrations and the volatility of Tl.

The plots of the precision of the elemental RSC data <u>versus</u> the logarithm (log) of the elemental concentration are shown in Figs. V-1 and V-2 for the coal and fly ash standard samples. As expected, the precision is worst at low and high concentrations with the best precision obtained for concentrations near 100 ppm. The precision is better than $\pm 30\%$ for elemental concentrations ranging from 5 to 2500 ppm in the standard coal samples and better than $\pm 20\%$ for concentrations ranging from 10 ppm to 1% in the standard fly ash sample. The precisions are generally better for the fly ash than the coals, probably because of the better homogeneity of the sample.

C. Results and Discussion of the Analysis of the Power Plant Samples

The concentrations for 62 elements in the Iowa and Colorado coal, bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, and fly ash-EP were calculated using a rearrangement of Equation V-1:

$$PPMW_{x} = \frac{(ppma_{x})(ATWT_{x})(ppmw_{std})}{(ppma_{std})(ATWT_{std})(RSC_{x})}$$
(V-2)



Figure V-1. Precision of RSC values vs. log (concentration) for coal standard samples



Figure V-2. Precision of RSC values <u>vs</u>. log (concentration) for fly ash standard sample

The RSC values based on the coal standard samples and ash standard sample were used to calculate the elemental concentrations in the coal and ash samples, respectively. The concentrations of the three internal standards were determined independently by wet chemical methods. Copper and barium were determined by flame atomic absorption and zirconium was determined spectrophotometrically. One of the twelve samples from each of the eight types of sample was analyzed for Cu, Zr, and Ba. The results of these analyses are reported in Table V-4. Samples from the Iowa and Colorado coals are abbreviated IA and CO, respectively.

Elemental concentrations were calculated based on each of the three internal standards. The calculations resulted in 12 concentrations for an element in the Iowa coal, bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, fly ash-EP, Colorado coal, bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, and fly ash-EP based on the Cu, Zr, and Ba internal standards for each of the 62 elements. The concentrations for each population of 12 were averaged and "bad data" were excluded on the basis of the Chauvenet criterion for rejection. The average concentration for an element based on one of the internal standards was compared to the averages based on the other two internal standards using the t-test for the consistency of two means at the 95% confidence level (237). Details of the computer program which performed these calculations and a complete listing of the results are not given here because of the large volume of the program and data listings. The reader may contact Professor Harry J. Svec, 21 Gilman, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa 50011, for details.

Sample	Cu	Zr	Ba
	(ppmw)	(ppmw)	(ppmw)
IA coal	35	132	248
CO coal	38	134	346
IA bottom ash	65	229	225
CO bottom ash	133	181	517
IA fly ash-PDC	50	212	265
CO fly ash-PDC	79	237	181
IA fly ash-EP	224	322	462
CO fly ash-EP	296	485	538

Table V-4. Results of wet chemical analysis

The elemental precisions for the Power Plant samples were combined with those for the coal and ash standard samples to make a comparison between the values based on the three internal standards. The results are reported in Table V-5. Approximately 50% of the elemental precisions based on Cu and Zr are better than $\pm 30\%$, but less than 25% of the values based on Ba are better than $\pm 30\%$. A possible explanation is that the Ba in the samples is not homogeneously distributed. This poor homogeneity diminishes the usefulness of Ba as an internal standard for these analyses. Also, upon further study, it was discovered that the dissolution of these types of samples for the wet chemical analysis of Ba can be problematic (137). More than 10% of the Ba remains in the residue left after dissolution. The homogeneity of the Cu appears to be slightly better than that of the Zr. The results of the t-test comparisons indicated that in many cases the elemental concentrations based on Zr were not of the same population as those based on Cu. A possible explanation is that the amount of Zr in the samples submitted for wet chemical analysis was close to the detection limit (10 μ g/50 mL) of the spectrophotometric method (252). The amount of Cu in the samples was sufficiently above the detection limit of the flame atomic absorption method so the accuracy of its analysis which is better than 5% (252) was not questioned. The results of the SSMS analysis for Zr based on Cu as the internal standard and the wet chemical analysis are reported in Table V-6. The wet chemical results are higher than the SSMS results in every case indicating that Zr is not as suitable as Cu for use as an internal standard in these

	Cu	Cu			Ba	Ba	
Range of precision (%)	No. of elemental precision values	% of total	No. of elemental precision values	% of total	No. of elemental precision values	% of total	
≤ 10	67	11	32	5	6	1	
≤ 15	128	22	104	18	31	5	
≤ 20	194	33	162	27	59	10	
≤ 25	252	43	220	37	93	16	
≤ 30	311	53	280	47	136	23	

Table V-5. Comparison of precisions of SSMS analysis between Cu, Zr, and Ba internal references

Table V-6. Comparison of wet chemical and SSMS results, using Cu as internal reference, for concentration of Zr

Sample	Wet chemical (ppmw)	SSMS (ppmw)	% Rel. dif.
IA coal	132	121	9
CO coal	132	131	2
IA bottom ash	229	217	6
CO bottom ash	181	157	15
IA fly ash-PDC	212	211	0.5
CO fly ash-PDC	237	226	5
IA fly ash-EP	322	283	17
CO fly ash-EP	485	378	28
particular analyses. The failure of Ba and Zr to be suitable as internal standards precludes any correlations between the three selected internal standards and elements with similar properties and organic-inorganic affinities.

The average elemental concentrations and relative standard uncertainty in the averages are reported in Table V-7 for the Iowa coal samples and Table V-8 for the Colorado samples. The values for 53 of the elements are based solely on Cu as the internal standard, the values for the other 9 are averages of the results based on both Cu and Zr. These nine elements and the relative precision of their RSC values based on Cu and Zr are listed in Table V-9. The precision of the RSC values based on Zr is much better than that for the values based on Cu so the concentrations based on Zr are combined with those based on Cu and the average values are used. The standard uncertainties for Li. Be, B, F, P, and S are relatively high for the same reasons stated previously in the discussion of the RSC values. All of the Power Plant samples were ashed so the standard uncertainties for the halogens are high because of their variable loss during ashing (61,199,251,254), and particularly for the bottom ash because of their low concentrations in that type of sample. The uncertainties for Ni and Ge in the coals are high for the same reasons stated previously in the discussion of the RSC values. The uncertainties for Zn are high because it is not distributed homogeneously in these types of samples (199), and only one mass spectral line is free of interferences. The high uncertainty for As in the Colorado fly ash-PDC is caused by three concentrations being

Iowa Coal									
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty	
Li Be	1.42	25 30	6.19 3.22	21 30	5.91 1.76	23 37	7.54 2.27	25 38	
B F	26.1 30.4	15 13	399 20.5	21 21	292 21.9	12 16	3/5 43.0	11 17 21	
Na Mg	130 339	8 6 7	2180 4880 2 40%	8 10	953 2690 2 19%	0 7 6	7460	6	
AI Si P	0.370% 1.36% 145	4 10	12.9% 3690	10 5 18	13.3% 2910	5 18	7.41% 4390	6 19	
S C1	0.958%	20 9	3.34% 14.7	17 8	0.862%	13 14 7	3.96% 35.4 8570	21 20	
K Ca	567 0.718%	10 3 7	7340 7.03%	/ 5 11	7710 3.67% 11.0	7 5 7	2.36% 22.7	5 6	
sc Ti V	258	5 6	2460 56.2	7 9	2560 51.0	6 7	4020 147	6 6	
Cr Mn	5.85 58.0	12 5	56.6 824	10 5	48.3 419	9 7 1	64.1 118 4.82%	6 4 4	
Fe Co	1.01% 3.08	6 7 13	11.2% 16.2 198	4 5 9	4.70% 17.0 122	58	47.9 376	4 5	
Cu Zn	6.06	27	49.1 485	 20	32.7 611	14	174 7560	6	
Ga Ge	1.50 6.04	9 12	13.7 32.8	11 6	13.8 47.0	8 4	204 481	5 4	

Table Y-7. Results of SSMS analysis of Iowa Power Plant samples^a

^aAll concentrations in units of ppm by weight unless indicated otherwise.

Table	V-7.	(Continued)

Iowa Coal								
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty
Ac	6.57	7	22.1	8	61.0	5	508	6
Se	2.15	9	7.07	7	2.60	7	14.1	4
Br	19.9	9	2.77	20	2.15	7	2.32	14
RP	4.03	15	43.1	10	35.2	13	60.1	11
Sr	42.9	10	197	14	119	10	317	8
Ŷ	7.54	4	62.3	7	44.8	8	113	7
, 7r	20.9	5	164	4	138	4	220	6
Mo	1.65	ğ	5.03	13	4.98	9	21.2	9
61 D	0.63	18	3.10	20	5,01	4	112	4
Sn	0.36	14	5.73	12	3.29	8	25.1	13
Sh	0.00	9	1.50	6	2.49	5	44.8	4
T T	1 12	าา้	0.87	16	1.72	10	3.88	7
L L	0 34	14	1.81	15	1.81	19	6.84	14
Ra	37 0	10	341	15	191	6	508	15
La La	5 67	12	29.3	13	23.8	9	49.4	6
La Co	151	11	53.7	12	44.9	9	113	10
Dn	1 17	13	4.54	11	3.74	10	8.34	10
FT Nd	7 97	13	29 2	9	28.5	7	65.5	7
nu Sm	2 21	11	7 64	17	7.64	14	16.4	8
5111	0.21	Q II	2 52	14	2.02	11	2.44	10
EU Cd	2 12	12	8 62	18	7.84	9	14.1	9
50 71	2.13	12	1 88	13	1.93	12	1.64	11
1D Du	0.10	15	5 50	21	4.85	11	11.1	9
Dy	1.40	10	0 70	14	0.73	10	0.75	10
HO	0.15	11	1 07	13	1,99	iĭ	3.98	13
Er Tu	0.00	12	0.59	28	0.51	19	0.81	11
Im	0.06	11	0.00	12	2 00	19	4,11	13
Yb	0.15	17	1.04	14	2.00	1.2		• -

64

Table	V-7. ((Continued)

	Iowa Coal									
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty		
Lu	0.05	15	0.78	21	0.68	16	0.94	12		
Hf	0.22	33	1.43	17	2.22	20	3.76	31		
Ta	0.14	87	1.50		0.71	18	2.62	26		
Ŵ	0.24	22	1.71	36	1.26	16	2 .9 8	16		
Ha	0.28	22	0.71	19	0.30	56	0.70	18		
ΤĬ	0.31	13	0.65	33	1.16	7	1.67	6		
Pb	19.0	6	35.2	6	84.2	5	1360	5		
Bi							2.14	18		
Th	0.67	13	5.09	10	3.24	5	4.42	9		
U	0.21	14	2.05	14	1.97	6	4.63	6		

ճ

	Colorado (oal								
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty	
	5 99	27	17.8	23	9.84	28	15.6	18	
Ro	1 16	45	6.42	21	1,79	29	1.99	43	
R	52 9	18	230	15	338	25	518	10	
F	53 4	16	11.1	13	23.6	19	50.4	10	
Na	632	10	3040	14	2780	7	11,400	8	
Μα	1120	10	8640	8	5270	7	7650	6	
A1	0.990%	9	4.96%	12	3.63%	6	3.62%	5	
Si	2.96%	4	16.8%	6	14.3%	5	11.0%	6	
p	306	33	9100	19	4810	19	8650	17	
Ś	1.90%	18	8.54%	16	1.05%	16	6.29%	19	
C1	6.82	14	19.8	13	21.0	10	54.3	20	
ĸ	719	12	9980	13	5440	7	8020	11	
Ca	0.284%	4	3.81%	7	1.99%	5	2.52%	6	
Sc	2.14	10	24.3	10	18.6	8	21.8	8	
Ti	409	5	5040	8	1990	6	4440	6	
v	12.5	9	105	10	91.9	8	136	5	
Cr	7.20	15	80.6	11	66.9	4	114	11	
Mn	20.4	7	274	9	192	5	129	4	
Fe	0.861%	6	14.2%	4	6.82%	4	2.28%	5	
60	4.18	4	55.8	4	29.5	4	73.2	4	
Ni	16.0	16	502	6	314	10	626	9	
	6 61		129		50.8		235		
7n	67 2	15	879	6	797	14	11,200	13	
Ga	2.37	9	19.5	8	22.8	6	225	6	

Table V-8. Results of SSMS analysis of Colorado Power Plant samples^a

^aAll concentrations in units of ppm by weight unless indicated otherwise.

				Colorado (Coa 1			
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty
60	5 99	16	25.4	6	50.2	5	727	4
Δe	4 58	9	11.0	12	65.6	19	584	6
50	3 15	12	9.69	5	4.26	6	18.7	6
Br	17 9	14	2.24	21	1.08	9	2.44	18
Ph	4 91	7	51.2	14	32.3	10	75.7	9
Sr	115	4	263	18	360	11	572	8
V	3 41	5	65.4	9	57.7	7	54.9	8
- 7r	22 8	6	152	7	145	3	300	5
Mo	1 78	7	12.3	11	8.30	9	39.8	8
00 Cd	1 46	8	1.55	24	9.07	9	184	4
Sn	0.57	12	1.84	15	2.12	7	48.4	6
Sh	0.57	8	2.13	11	4.99	7	75.8	5
JD T	2 21	14	0.29	9	1.40	10	3.09	6
r ol	0.62	14	2.65	17	2.37	14	6.07	15
Ra	92 6	17	632	14	862	18	1110	17
La	9 21	13	35.8	14	35.0	9	48.5	7
Γα	17 4	10	81.3	9	83.6	16	131	7
Dr	1 57	12	5.60	10	5.14	15	6.63	11
Nd	R 93	11	33.7	13	27.3	11	53.5	7
Sm	1 83	12	6.97	18	9.32	13	16.2	16
5m Fu	0 16	12	1.62	9	1.75	10	2.37	7
Gd	1 86	12	6.22	16	7.46	12	12.8	7
Th	0 12	7	1.44	12	1.66	11	2.33	11
DV	1 86	14	4.59	16	6.62	15	13.3	8
Uу Но	0 16	14	0.51	9	0.50	7	1.11	11
110 Ev	0.10	14	1.73	15	2,26	13	4.15	9
Tm	0.09	59	0.54	14	0.51	10	0.78	18

Table V-8. (Continued)

Table	V-8.	(Continued)

,

Colorado Coal									
Element	Whole coal	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Bottom ash	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash PDC	% Rel. std. uncertainty	Fly ash EP	% Rel. std. uncertainty	
Yb	0.24	13	1.84	16	2.44	17	3.37	15	
Lu			0.33	26	0.73	12	0.67	19	
Hf			2.11	21	2.03]4	7,38	19	
Ta			1.46	22	0.57	15	2.85	25	
W	0.31	28	1.95	18	0.87	20	3,27	12	
Ha	1.33	25	0.58	17	0.37	3 3	1.03	16	
ΤĬ	0.33	12	0.45	17	0.64	6	23.7	7	
РЬ	25.4	5	29.7	6	40.4	5	2070	9	
Bi	0.09		100 0 · 101			···	5.42	12	
Th	0.56	13	5.76	12	4.86	6	3.41	8	
U	0.63	6	3.06	11	4.43	5	7.35	7	

	Co	la	Ash
Element	Cu (%)	Zr (%)	Cu Zr (%) (%)
Al	68	33	38 7
Cr	60	19	12 9
Se	91	38	30 12
Br	40	5	23 7
La	47	11	35 17
Ce	50	11	51 38
Но			50 7
Lu			52 25
TI			42 14

Table V-9. Relative precision of RSC values

larger than the other nine by a factor of two. An explanation for this increase is not apparent. The uncertainties for Cd in the bottom ash and Iowa coal are high because of its low concentration. The inhomogeneity of Ba compared to Cu in these samples caused the relatively high uncertainty in the results for Ba. The uncertainties for Cs, Hg, and the rare earths are high for the same reasons stated previously in the discussion of the RSC values. The high uncertainties for Hf, Ta, and W are caused by their low concentrations. No uncertainty is reported for Ta in the Iowa bottom ash because it was detected in only one of the twelve samples. The high uncertainties for Tl in the bottom ash and Bi in the fly ash-EP are caused by their low concentrations. No uncertainty is reported for Bi in the Colorado coal because it was detected in only one of the twelve samples.

A material balance study was performed for the Iowa samples and, also, for the Colorado samples. The completeness of the elemental recoveries was determined using:

$$X = HTA[(0.6 \cdot LTA_{B} \cdot B) + (0.34 \cdot LTA_{P} \cdot P) + (0.06 \cdot LTA_{E} \cdot E)]$$
(V-3)

and

$$WC = LTA_{C} \cdot C \tag{V-4}$$

where LTA_{C,B,P,E} are the fractions of residue left after the coal, bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, and fly ash-EP are low-temperature ashed; C, B, P, and E are the elemental concentrations in the coal, bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, and fly ash-EP; HTA is the fraction of residue left after the coal is high-temperature ashed; and the numerical factors are the

relative distribution of the total ash between the bottom ash, fly ash-PDC, and fly ash-EP hoppers stated previously in the Experimental section of this chapter. The factors LTA_{C} and HTA put the elemental concentrations on a whole coal basis for the ashed coal and total ash, respectively. The values of LTA and HTA (255,256) are reported in Table V-10. The recovery of each element is determined by comparing the values of X and WC. The results of the material balance study are reported in Table V-11.

The relative uncertainty in the elemental comparisons can be determined using the uncertainties for the RSC values, concentrations, wet chemical analysis of Cu $(\pm 5\%)$, LTA factors (no worse than $\pm 5\%$), HTA factors (approximately ±10% for the Iowa coal, ±20% for the Colorado coal) (255), and the total ash distribution factors (estimated at $\pm 20\%$ for the bottom ash, $\pm 30\%$ for the fly ash-PDC, and $\pm 40\%$ for the fly ash-EP). The relative uncertainties in the total ash distribution factors were estimated from the comparisons of the factors from other materials balance studies (4,79,197). These uncertainties can be combined using the equations for the propagation of uncertainties in computed measurements (257). The relative uncertainty in the comparison for Fe, which has some of the lowest uncertainties associated with it, is $\pm 21\%$ for the Iowa coal and $\pm 27\%$ for the Colorado coal. The difference between the Iowa and Colorado values is caused by the difference in the uncertainties in the HTA factors. The relative uncertainty in the comparison for Be, which has some of the highest uncertainties associated with it, is $\pm 43\%$ for the Iowa coal and $\pm 71\%$

Sample	LTA	НТА	
IA coal	0.173	0.11	
Bottom ash	0.756		
Fly ash-PDC	0.653		
Fly ash-EP	0.779		
CO coaî	0.174	0.075	
Bottom ash	0.969		
Fly ash-PDC	0.643		
Fly ash-EP	0.794		

Table V-10. Ashing factors for Power Plant samples

		Iowa Coal		Co	lorado Coa	1	
Element	WC	Х	% Rel. dif.	WC	Х	% Rel. dif.	CO Dif IA Dif.
Li	1.42	0.68	-52	5.99	1.12	-81	-29
Be	0.52	0.29	-43	1.16	0.34	-70	-27
В	26.1	39.7	+52	52.9	21.3	-60	-112
F	30.4	2.46	-92	53.4	1.33	-98	-6
Na	130	210	+61	632	259	-59	-120
Mg	339	471	+39	1120	558	-50	-89
A1	3700	3350	-9.6	9900	3320	-67	-57
Si	1.36%	1.40%	+2.4	2.96%	1.17%	-61	-63
Р	145	381	+160	306	571	+87	-73
S	0.958%	0.282%	-/1	1.90%	0.439%	-77	-6
CI	4.19	2.04	-51	6.82	1.67	-76	-25
K	56/	829	+46	/19	624	-13	-59
Ca	/180	61/0	-14	2840	2330	- 18	-4
50	1.53	1.49	-3.0	2.14	1.6/	-22	-19
11	258	285	+11	409	297	-27	-38
V Chr	7.01	6.59	-14	12.5	/.6/	-39	-25
Ur Mw	5.85	5.9/	+2.0	7.20	5.85	-19	-21
nn Fo	58.0	/0.8	+22 5 1	20.4	1/.0	-13	-35
re Co	2.09	0.940%	-0.1	0.001/0	0.020%	-4.2	+2 +20
NS	3.00	2.02	-34	4.10	22 4	+1-	+20
	10.4	5.62	-72	6.61	23.4 2 1 E	+109	+30
Cu 7n	158	105	_34	67 2	110	+64	+98
Ga	1 50	2 77	+84	2 37	2 47	+4 5	-79
Ge	5.04	7.10	+18	5.99	5.69	_4_9	-23
As	6.57	7.09	+7.9	4.58	4.80	+4.8	-3
Se	2.15	0.66	-69	3.15	0.63	-80	-11
Br	19.9	0.28	-99	17.9	0.14	-99	0
RЬ	4.03	4.56	+13	4.91	3.47	-29	-42
Sr	42.9	19.6	-54	115	23.6	-79	-25
Y	7.54	6.53	-13	3.41	4.66	+37	+50
Zr	20.9	17.4	-17	22.8	11.9	-48	-31
Мо	1.65	0.66	-60	1.78	0.94	-47	+13
Cd	0.63	1.13	+81	1.46	1.13	-23	-104
Sn	0.36	0.67	+84	0.57	0.36	-38	-122
Sb	0.49	0.49	+0.4	0.56	0.56	0	0

Table V-11. Results of material balance study^a

^aAll concentrations in units of ppm by weight unless indicated otherwise.

74	•
----	---

		Iowa Coal			Colorado Coal			
Element	WC	Х	% Rel. dif.	WC	X	% Rel. dif.	CO Dif IA Dif.	
I Cs Ba La Ce Prd Sm Gd Dy Ho Er Tb U Hf Ta W Hg T1 Pb Bi Th U	$\begin{array}{c} 1.12\\ 0.34\\ 37.2\\ 5.67\\ 15.1\\ 1.17\\ 7.87\\ 2.21\\ 0.31\\ 2.13\\ 0.18\\ 1.48\\ 0.15\\ 0.66\\ 0.15\\ 0.66\\ 0.15\\ 0.22\\ 0.14\\ 0.24\\ 0.28\\ 0.31\\ 19.0\\\\ 0.67\\ 0.21\\ \end{array}$	0.15 0.23 33.0 3.15 5.97 0.50 3.42 0.90 0.26 0.96 0.21 0.62 0.09 0.23 0.06 0.21 0.62 0.09 0.23 0.06 0.21 0.08 0.20 0.14 0.18 0.06 0.10 14.4 0.49 0.24	-52 -31 -11 -45 -60 -58 -57 -60 -17 -55 +13 -65 +7.1 +41 +82 -5.8 +5.3 -26 -78 -68 -24 -27 +16	2.21 0.62 92.6 9.21 17.4 1.57 8.93 1.83 0.16 1.86 0.12 1.86 0.12 1.86 0.12 1.86 0.12 1.86 0.16 0.59 0.09 0.24 0.31 1.33 0.33 25.4 0.09 0.56 0.63	$\begin{array}{c} 0.06\\ 0.21\\ 55.4\\ 2.72\\ 6.38\\ 0.41\\ 2.45\\ 0.62\\ 0.13\\ 0.53\\ 0.12\\ 0.44\\ 0.04\\ 0.15\\ 0.04\\ 0.16\\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0.13\\ 0.04\\ 0.16\\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0.04\\ 0.16\\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 0.04\\ 0.14\\ 11.7\\ \hline \\ 0.02\\ 0.40\\ 0.28\\ \hline \end{array}$	-97 -66 -40 -70 -63 -74 -73 -66 -20 -72 0 -77 -75 -74 -54 -33 -60 -97 -57 -54 -72 -29 -55	$ \begin{array}{c} -10\\ -35\\ -29\\ -25\\ -3\\ -16\\ -16\\ -6\\ -3\\ -17\\ -13\\ -19\\ -32\\ -9\\ -61\\ -74\\\\\\ -34\\ -19\\ +11\\ -30\\\\ -2\\ -71\end{array} $	

Table V-11. (Continued)

for the Colorado coal. The relative uncertainties in the comparison for the rest of the elements range between these values for the two coals. In general, the material balance is satisfactory for both the Iowa and Colorado coals. The analytical problems associated with Li, Be, B, Na, Mq, Cs, Ba, W, and Bi were stated previously in the discussions of the uncertainties in the concentrations and RSC values. The relative differences in WC and X for S, Se, Mo, Hg, Tl, and the halogens are appreciably negative for both coals. These elements are lost from the stack (4,78,79,197,254,258-262). The large positive relative differences for P may be caused by inaccurate RSC values, especially for the ashes because the precision of the reported concentration for P in the standard fly ash sample is poor (253). Similarly, the large negative relative differences for many of the rare earths may be caused by inaccurate RSC values, especially for the coals, because of the lack of values reported by the sources of the standard samples for these elements and the fact that the precision of the values that are reported is generally unknown. The large positive and negative differences for Ni and Sr are possibly due to inhomogeneity in the coals which create errors in the RSC values. The large positive differences for K, Ga, Cd, and Sn in the Iowa coal and Y in the Colorado coal are possibly caused by inhomogeneity in those coals. The inhomogeneity of Zn has been mentioned already and some of the Zn may not be recovered because of deposition on the walls of the furnace (263). The differences between the relative differences for the elements in the Iowa and Colorado coals indicate that the relative

differences for the elements in the Colorado coal are shifted negatively relative to the Iowa coal. This shift may be due to an inaccurate value for the Colorado HTA factor. Correcting for this shift can improve the relative differences of some of the elements ($\underline{e.g.}$, Zr and U) to acceptable values. Inaccurate values for the total ash distribution may also cause errors in the relative differences.

The relative elemental enrichment in the three types of ashes from the two types of coal are reported in Table V-12. The values are calculated using:

relative enrichment_{B,P,E} =
$$\frac{LTA_{B,P,E} \cdot B, P, E}{(LTA_{B} \cdot B) + (LTA_{P} \cdot P) + (LTA_{E} \cdot E)}$$
(V-5)

where the symbols are the same as in Equation V-3. The elements which form refractory compounds and are associated with the mineral fraction of the coal, such as Be, Ca, Mn, and Fe, are enriched in the bottom ash (79,91,258). Sulfur is enriched in the bottom ash because of the involatile metal sulfates present in the coal and enriched in the fly ash-EP because of the organic sulfur and volatile metal sulfides which vaporize in the furnace and condense on the fly ash as the gases cool (258,268). The enrichments of Na, V, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, Ga, Ge, As, Se, Rb, Sr, Mo, Cd, Sn, Sb, Cs, Ba, W, Hg, Tl, Pb, Bi, U, and the halogens in the fly ash-EP may be due to the vaporization of compounds of these elements or the elements themselves in the furnace and their condensation on the surface of the fly ash as the gases cool (4,5,18,79,82, 115,137,197,254,258,264-272). Also, some of these elements, such as V, Ni, Co, Cu, Ga, Ge, Se, Mo, Sb, and U, are associated with the

		Iowa Coa	1	C	Colorado Coal		
Element	Bottom ash	Fly ash PDC	Fly ash EP	Bottom ash	Fly ash PDC	Fly ash EP	
Li Be B F Na Mg Al Si P S Cl K Ca Ca Cr M C Cr M F Co Ni Cn Ga e S B Cl K Ca C Ti V Cr M F Co Ni Cn S Cl K Ca C S Cl K Ca C S Cl K Ca S Cl S Cl S Cl S Cl S Cl S Cl S Cl S	0.315 0.445 0.375 0.240 0.278 0.324 0.345 0.385 0.336 0.413 0.204 0.311 0.538 0.293 0.273 0.221 0.335 0.605 0.539 0.200 0.284 0.192 0.056 0.059 0.058 0.037 0.297 0.382 0.311 0.311 0.283 0.311 0.283 0.314 0.161 0.025 0.134	0.301 0.242 0.274 0.256 0.122 0.395 0.265 0.307 0.326 0.281 0.231 0.283 0.200 0.286 0.308 0.229 0.209 0.209 0.229 0.071 0.071 0.060 0.084 0.103 0.109 0.297 0.254 0.189 0.204 0.264 0.160 0.042 0.096 0.051 0.266	0.384 0.313 0.352 0.504 0.601 0.497 0.433 0.221 0.400 0.482 0.490 0.363 0.181 0.475 0.444 0.579 0.379 0.087 0.232 0.591 0.540 0.681 0.873 0.858 0.859 0.593 0.321 0.434 0.516 0.513 0.422 0.679 0.933 0.736 0.918 0.599	0.412 0.630 0.211 0.131 0.176 0.401 0.406 0.399 0.403 0.538 0.208 0.426 0.426 0.426 0.440 0.315 0.308 0.440 0.315 0.308 0.461 0.610 0.352 0.348 0.311 0.068 0.073 0.032 0.017 0.297 0.389 0.322 0.220 0.367 0.255 0.204 0.008 0.035 0.208 0.026 0.060	0.228 0.176 0.311 0.277 0.161 0.244 0.297 0.340 0.213 0.066 0.211 0.232 0.239 0.239 0.239 0.239 0.233 0.221 0.232 0.239 0.239 0.233 0.277 0.255 0.323 0.292 0.173 0.277 0.255 0.323 0.292 0.186 0.218 0.122 0.062 0.063 0.099 0.131 0.188 0.203 0.301 0.324 0.243 0.137 0.047 0.040 0.292	0.360 0.195 0.477 0.592 0.662 0.355 0.297 0.261 0.385 0.396 0.571 0.342 0.303 0.337 0.387 0.408 0.437 0.216 0.098 0.462 0.434 0.567 0.870 0.870 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.842 0.906 0.870 0.572 0.423 0.476 0.479 0.308 0.502 0.659 0.946 0.924 0.914 0.647	
Ba	0.328	0.184	0.488	0.243	0.331	0.427	

Table V-12. Relative elemental enrichment

	Iowa Coal			Colorado Coal		
Element	Bottom ash	Fly ash PDC	Fly ash EP	Bottom ash	Fly ash PDC	Fly ash EP
La Ce Pr Nd Sm Eu Gd Tb Dy Ho Er Tm Yb Lu Hf Ta W Hg T1 Pb Bi Th U	0.285 0.254 0.273 0.237 0.241 0.361 0.282 0.344 0.260 0.349 0.243 0.308 0.212 0.325 0.193 0.311 0.287 0.414 0.187 0.024 0.399 0.237	0.233 0.212 0.225 0.231 0.242 0.290 0.256 0.355 0.226 0.322 0.250 0.250 0.259 0.258 0.284 0.300 0.147 0.212 0.176 0.334 0.057 0.254 0.228	0.482 0.534 0.502 0.532 0.517 0.349 0.461 0.302 0.514 0.329 0.502 0.427 0.531 0.391 0.508 0.542 0.501 0.410 0.479 0.919 1.000 0.347 0.535	0.300 0.275 0.322 0.295 0.214 0.282 0.235 0.266 0.187 0.241 0.212 0.294 0.241 0.212 0.294 0.241 0.146 0.149 0.253 0.320 0.292 0.018 0.014	0.294 0.282 0.296 0.238 0.287 0.305 0.282 0.306 0.270 0.237 0.277 0.277 0.277 0.277 0.277 0.215 0.490 0.215 0.147 0.144 0.186 0.026 0.019 0.346 0.298	0.407 0.443 0.382 0.467 0.499 0.413 0.483 0.429 0.543 0.522 0.511 0.429 0.440 0.365 0.635 0.635 0.635 0.635 0.522 0.956 0.967 1.000 0.243 0.495

Table V-12. (Continued)

organic fraction of the coal (91,267). The elements are carried from the furnace with the flue gas and deposited on the surface of the fly ash (197,267). The enrichments of Hf and Ta may be caused by their introduction into the flue gas when compounds of other elements which they associate with are vaporized. No elements are enriched significantly in the fly ash-PDC.

The manner in which the amounts of the elements recovered in the total ash are distributed between the three types of ash from the two types of coal is reported in Table V-13. The relative elemental distributions are calculated using:

relative
distribution_{B,P,E} =
$$\frac{(0.6, 0.34, 0.06) \cdot LTA_{B,P,E} \cdot (B,P,E)}{(0.6 \cdot LTA_{B} \cdot B) + (0.34 \cdot LTA_{P} \cdot P) + (0.06 \cdot LTA_{E} \cdot E)}$$
 (V-6)

where the numbers and symbols are the same as in Equation V-3. The elements which form refractory compounds and are associated with the mineral fraction of the coal, such as Be, Ca, Mn, Fe, and S in metal sulfates, have a higher percentage in the bottom ash (<u>i.e.</u>, more of the element in the original coal ends up in the bottom ash than in the other two types of ash). More of the volatile and organically associated elements, such as Zn, Ga, Ge, As, Cd, Sb, and Pb, end up in the fly ash-CP. The results reported in Tables V-12 and V-13 indicate that the bottom ash would be a more useful source for the elements which form refractory compounds associated with the mineral fraction of the coal than the other two types of ash. The fly ash-EP would be a more useful source for the elements which are volatile or form volatile compounds

	Iowa Coal			Colorado Coal		
Element	Bottom ash (%)	Fly ash PDC (%)	Fly ash EP (%)	Bottom ash (%)	Fly ash PDC (%)	Fly ash EP (%)
Li Be B F Nag Ali P S C I K C S C I V C M F C O I U N G G e S S F V C M F C O I U N C M S C I K C S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	$\begin{array}{c} 60.1\\ 72.5\\ 66.3\\ 55.1\\ 68.2\\ 67.1\\ 63.3\\ 47.8\\ 457.6\\ 27.1\\ 576.3\\ 77.5\\ 62.7\\ 77.5\\ 657.7\\ 52.0\\ 77.5\\ 62.5\\ 50.4\\ 66.5\\ 62.1\\ 18.1\\ 70.3\\ 30.5\\ 62.1\\ 41.7\\ 30.9\\ 51.5\\ 68.2\\ 61.5\\ 62$	32.5 22.4 27.5 33.3 16.9 21.3 24.5 35.5 28,6 11.4 40.8 34.3 27.8 32.1 27.8 32.7 21.7 21.8 32.2 14.8 32.7 21.8 32.7 21.8 32.7 21.8 32.7 21.8 32.2 14.8 32.2 24.5 29.6 28.9 22.8 14.8 32.2 24.8 32.7 21.8 32.7 21.8 32.2 14.8 28.9 22.8 28.9 22.8 14.8 28.9 22.8 28.9 22.8 14.8 28.9 22.8 14.8 28.9 22.8 28.5 18.4 19.1 21.7 21.7	$\begin{array}{c} 7.3\\ 5.1\\ 6.2\\ 11.6\\ 14.8\\ 10.4\\ 8.4\\ 3.5\\ 7.6\\ 9.2\\ 11.5\\ 6.8\\ 2.5\\ 10.1\\ 9.3\\ 14.8\\ 7.1\\ 1.1\\ 3.4\\ 15.7\\ 12.3\\ 20.5\\ 47.6\\ 48.7\\ 47.3\\ 14.2\\ 5.5\\ 8.7\\ 10.7\\ 11.4\\ 8.3\\ 21.3\\ 65.4\\ 24.8\\ 60.6\\ 17.4\\ 19.4\\ 10.2\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 71.4\\ 84.1\\ 48.5\\ 37.7\\ 52.8\\ 69.7\\ 67.2\\ 64.6\\ 71.7\\ 87.4\\ 53.0\\ 73.4\\ 65.7\\ 76.2\\ 61.4\\ 62.0\\ 77.7\\ 69.9\\ 67.6\\ 71.1\\ 35.4\\ 20.1\\ 10.3\\ 69.4\\ 72.3\\ 66.4\\ 50.1\\ 57.5\\ 8.6\\ 23.3\\ 17.0\\ 20.7\\ 57.6\\ 51.3\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 22.3\\ 13.3\\ 40.5\\ 45.2\\ 27.4\\ 24.1\\ 27.9\\ 31.2\\ 21.5\\ 6.1\\ 32.0\\ 22.2\\ 21.7\\ 28.4\\ 17.0\\ 30.6\\ 29.2\\ 27.5\\ 21.1\\ 20.9\\ 15.9\\ 19.8\\ 23.5\\ 34.9\\ 19.8\\ 23.5\\ 31.6\\ 31.1\\ 22.4\\ 20.5\\ 22.5\\ 57.0\\ 29.2\\ 39.7\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.2\\ 2.6\\ 11.0\\ 17.1\\ 19.8\\ 6.2\\ 4.9\\ 4.2\\ 6.4\\ 14.6\\ 5.9\\ 9.7\\ 0.8\\ 2.2\\ 2.4\\ 0.7\\ 0.5\\ 6.6\\ 13.9\\ 9.8\\ 10.9\\ 5.3\\ 10.9\\ 5.3\\ 19.0\\ 41.0\\ 57.5\\ 13.4\\ 9.8\\ 9.8\\ 10.9\\ 5.3\\ 19.0\\ 41.5\\ 54.6\\ 13.9\\ 9.8\\ 9.8\\ 10.9\\ 5.3\\ 19.0\\ 460.5\\ 22.3\\ 9.0\\ 9.0\\ 10.9\\$

Table V-13. Relative elemental distribution of ashes

	Iowa Coal			Colorado Coal			
Element	Bottom ash (%)	Fly ash PDC (%)	Fly ash EP (%)	Bottom ash (%)	Fly ash PDC (%)	Fly ash EP (%)	
La Ce Pr Nd Sm Eu Gd Tb Dy Ho Er Tb Dy Ho Er Tb Yb Lu Hf Ta W Hg Tl Pb Bi Th U	61.3 59.4 60.6 56.3 56.1 64.4 59.6 59.8 59.2 61.9 56.3 60.8 51.5 61.9 46.6 69.3 62.8 74.7 44.0 16.1 69.1 56.5	28.3 28.2 28.2 31.1 31.8 29.3 30.7 34.9 29.1 32.3 32.2 30.6 35.6 30.6 41.1 18.6 26.3 18.0 44.7 21.8 24.9 30.8	10.4 12.5 11.1 12.6 12.0 6.2 9.7 5.2 11.7 5.8 11.4 8.6 12.9 7.4 12.3 12.1 10.9 7.4 11.3 62.0 100 6.0 12.8	59.1 57.3 61.0 61.8 50.2 56.9 53.1 55.2 47.4 56.4 50.4 59.5 51.7 40.7 52.8 70.6 70.3 65.0 14.2 11.4 65.1 48.5	32.8 33.4 31.8 28.3 38.1 34.8 36.0 35.9 38.8 31.4 37.4 31.8 38.9 51.0 28.8 15.6 17.9 23.4 11.4 8.8 31.1 39.8	8.0 9.2 7.2 9.8 11.7 8.3 10.9 8.9 13.8 12.2 12.1 8.7 9.5 8.3 18.5 13.8 11.6 74.4 79.7 100 3.8 11.7	

Table V-13. (Continued)

in the original coal, or are associated with the organic fraction of the coal.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

A calibration scheme which accurately defines the response of the photographic emulsion to the impinging ions from the particular samples of interest is necessary for accurate results using SSMS. The photoplates exposed in this project were calibrated using a computer application of the Franzen-Maurer-Schuy formula. Surprisingly, the results of the calibration indicate an increase in the sensitivity of the emulsion with increasing m/z ratio due to the increasing momentum of the ions.

~

Of the three internal standards selected for the analysis of the ashed coal and ash samples, Cu, Ba, and Zr, only Cu proved to be suitable for this particular project. The inhomogeneous distribution of Ba in reference and real samples and the difficulty of its dissolution for wet chemical analyses, representing an independent analytical method, precluded its usefulness. The small amounts of sample submitted for wet chemical analysis also precluded the usefulness of Zr as an internal standard because the amounts of Zr in those samples were close to the detection limit ($10 \mu g/50 mL$) of the spectrophotometric method (252) employed as another independent analytical method.

The accuracy of the elemental relative sensitivity coefficients is dependent on the accuracy of the elemental concentrations reported for the standard samples. Certified concentrations are best and the rest are suspect in varying degrees according to the homogeneity of the samples, analytical method used, and number of analyses performed. The accuracy of the coefficients is also dependent on the SSMS analyses of

the standard samples. It is affected by the homogeneity of the standard samples, position of elemental concentration on the photoplate calibration curve and associated inaccuracies of calibration, number of spectral lines used in the determination of the elemental concentration, and instrumental aberrations.

The precision and apparent accuracy of the relative sensitivity coefficients were found to be satisfactory for the majority of the elements in the standard samples used as cross checks. The large number of standard samples and multiple analyses helped reduce the statistical uncertainty and effect of the systematic errors, but the poor precision (e.g., phosphorous) and small number of concentrations reported for some elements (e.g., rare earths) in the standards increased the inaccuracy of the analytical results for those elements. The precision and apparent accuracy of the elemental concentrations in the Iowa State University Power Plant samples are satisfactory for the majority of the elements. The applicability of the relative sensitivity coefficients to the analyses of these samples may be diminished by differences in the chemical speciation of the elements between the standard and Power Plant samples (262) and the variable response of the SSMS method to elemental differences between the two types of samples due to differences in the handling of the samples (e.g., differences in methods of sample reduction). The results of the analysis of ashed coal and other ashes by SSMS are improved when line areas, instead of peaks, are measured, the mass spectra are interpreted by computer methods, and an accurate calibration and computation scheme with

accurate corrections for background fog and other factors is developed.

Results of the material balance study are satisfactory for the majority of the elements studied. They are comparable to results of other similar studies (4,79,262), although this study was more extensive. Systematic errors in relative sensitivity coefficients for specific elements (e.g., phosphorous and the rare earths) account for some of the divergent results while differences in the composition of the three types of Power Plant ash (262) account for others. The uncertainties in the composition of the low-temperature and hightemperature ashes and their distribution also affect the results (266). Nonetheless, the study revealed enrichment of some elements in the three types of ash studied. The bottom ash, which is rich in Be, S, Ca, Mn, and Fe, might be a possible future source of beryllium and manganese. On the other hand, the fly ash from the electrostatic precipitator is relatively rich in Zn, Ga, Ge, As, Cd, Sb, and Pb. As such, it might be a possible source of gallium and germanium which do not exist abundantly in natural deposits. The magnitude of the amount of ash that will result from the burning of coal is so great, however, that it should not be discounted as a future source of valuable materials as other richer sources are depleted.

The ASTM sampling and sample preparation methods provided representative samples, which were important for the success of the material balance study. The inhomogeneity problems found in many aspects of this project may be due to "conglomerates" (273) in the

samples. Conglomerates are groups of crystals of different compounds which have grown together simultaneously upon precipitation to form species which are not well defined, but very resistant to crushing by typical grinding methods used in an attempt to homogenize the analytical samples. This resistance and differences in density could have caused some of the elements to be unevenly distributed throughout the samples actually used in the SSMS. The rare earths and other elements (<u>e.g.</u>, Zr and Hf) are known to form such species (273). The improved elemental precision and accuracy obtained in this project for the analysis of ashed coal and the products of coal combustion by SSMS indicate that this analytical method is applicable to mass balance studies in coal-fired power plants without requiring sample dissolution which might be a source of contaminants for elements occurring at low levels.

VII. SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE WORK

Future research into a number of aspects of this project could improve further the applicability of SSMS to material balance studies in coal-fired power plants. Possible projects include:

 Further automation of the method to provide more rapid data acquisition and further reduce the total time of analysis could reduce the cost of these studies.

2. Further improvements in sparking stability and reproducibility, further study of the calibration scheme and mass and energy dependence of the emulsion response, and better techniques for sample preparation to improve the homogeneity of the samples could improve further this analytical method.

 The development of methods to improve the homogeneity of barium in ashed coal and ash samples could make it more useful as an internal standard.

4. Zirconium would be a useful internal standard for samples containing enough of the element to be amenable to cross checking by wet chemical methods of analysis.

5. The suitability of both barium and zirconium as internal standards could be improved by accurate analyses of these elements in ashed coal and ash samples by suitable independent analytical methods other than wet chemical methods (<u>e.g.</u>, instrumental neutron activation analysis).

6. The uncertainty in the material balance results could be reduced by collecting separate coal samples at the same time the coal is being used and the ash is being produced and ashing them under conditions similar to those in the furnace to accurately determine the high-temperature ash content.

7. The development of a method of determining the partitioning of the total ash between the various hoppers for the bottom ash, fly ash collected by the primary dust collector, and fly ash collected by the electrostatic precipitator could reduce further the uncertainty in the material balance results.

8. A study of the day-to-day variations in the elemental concentrations of samples collected on different days from the power plant.

9. A material balance study of the coal burned on individual days.

VIII. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Hittman Associates, Inc. "Toxic Trace Pollutants Coefficients for Energy Supply and Conversion"; Columbia, MD, 1977, Final Report HIT-705, ERDA Contract EX-77-C-03-1296.
- 2. "Coal Fired Power Plant Trace Element Study, A Three Station Comparison", Vols. I and II, USEPA, 1975.
- Schwitzgebel, K.; Meserol, F. B.; Oldham, R. G.; Magee, R. A.; Mesich, F. G.; Thoem, T. L. "Proceedings, International Conference on Heavy Metals in the Environment", Vol. II, Part 2; Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 1975.
- Kaakinen, J. W.; Jorden, R. M.; Lawasani, M. H.; West, R. E. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1975, 9, 862.
- Ondov, J. M.; Ragaini, R. C.; Heft, R. E.; Fisher, G. L.; Silberman, D.; Prentice, B. A. "Interlaboratory Comparison of Neutron Activation and Atomic Absorption Analyses of Size-Classified Stack Fly Ash", presented at the 8th IMR Symposium, Gaithersburg, MD, Sept. 20-24, 1976.
- National Research Council "Trace-Element Geochemistry of Coal Resource Development Related to Environmental Quality and Health"; National Academy Press: Washington, D.C., 1980; Chapter 1.
- Bradford, G. R.; Blair, F. L.; Hunsaker, V. <u>Soil Sci.</u> 1971, 112, 225.
- Bradford, G. R.; Page, A. L.; Straughan, I. R.; Phung, H. T. "Environmental Chemistry and Cycling Process", Adriano, D. C.; Brisbin, I. L., Eds.; Washington, D.C., 1978; DOE Symp., Ser. 45, CONF-760429, 383.
- 9. Mulford, F. R.; Martens, D. C. <u>Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc</u>. 1971, 35, 296.
- Plank, C. O.; Martens, D. C.; Hailock, D. L. <u>Plant and Soil</u> 1975, 42, 465.
- 11. Hodgson, D. R.; Holliday, R. Chem. Ind. 1966, 20, 785.
- Furr, A. K.; Parkinson, T. F.; Heffron, C. L.; Reid, J. T.; Haschek, W. M.; Gutenmann, W. H.; Bache, C. A.; St. John, L. E., Jr.; Lisk, D. J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1978, 26, 847.
- Gutenmann, W. H.; Bache, C. A.; Youngs, W. D.; Lisk, D. J. <u>Science</u> 1976, 191, 966.

- Stoewsand, G. S.; Gutenmann, W. H.; Lisk, D. J. <u>J. Agric. Food</u> Chem. 1978, 26, 757.
- 15. National Research Council "Trace Element Geochemistry of Coal Resource Development Related to Environmental Quality and Health"; National Academy Press: Washington, D.C., 1980; Chapter 5.
- 16. Klein, D. H.; Russell, P. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1973, 7, 357.
- 17. Natusch, D. R. S.; Wallace, J. R. <u>Science</u> 1974, 186, 695.
- Linton, R. W.; Loh, H.; Natusch, D. F. S.; Evans, C. A., Jr.; Williams, P. <u>Science</u> 1976, 191, 852.
- Page, A. L.; Bingham, F. T.; Lund, L. J.; Bradford, G. R.; Elseewi, A. A. "Consequence of Trace Element Enrichment of Soils and Vegetation from the Combustion of Fuel Used in Power Generation"; Biannual Report, Southern California Edison Research and Development Series 77-RD-29, Rosemead, CA, 1977.
- Schnappinger, M. G., Jr.; Martens, D. C.; Plank, C. O. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1975, 9, 258.
- 21. Doran, J. W.; Martens, D. C. J. Environ. Qual. 1972, 1, 186.
- Tenney, M. W.; Echelberger, W. F., Jr. "Fly Ash Utilization in the Treatment of Polluted Waters"; U.S. Bur. Mines Info. Circ. 8488, 1970, 237.
- Murtha, M. J.; Burnet, G. "Processes to Increase Utilization of Power Solid Wastes"; Proceedings of EPRI Conference on Solid Waste Research and Development Needs for Emerging Coal Technologies, San Diego, CA, April, 1979, 135.
- 24. Baux, J. F. "Canadians Pioneer New Fly Ash Processing System"; Mineral Processing, March 16, 1969.
- Minnick, L. J. "The Application of the Roto-Flux Magnetic Separator to Pulverize Coal Fly Ash"; 1961, Am. Soc. Mech. Eng. Pap. 61-WA-313.
- Murtha, M. J.; Burnet. G. "New Developments in the Lime-Soda Sinter Process"; Proceedings of the 5th International Ash Utilization Symposium, Atlanta, GA, 1979.
- 27. Burnet, G.; Murtha, M. J.; Wijatno, H. "Recovery of Alumina from Fly Ash by High-Temperature Chlorination"; Proceedings of the 3rd Kentucky Coal Refuse Disposal and Utilization Seminar, Lexington, KY, 1977, 83.

- Farrar, H., IV In "Analytical Methods for Coal and Coal Products"; Karr, C., Jr., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1978; Vol. I, Chapter 8.
- 29. Roboz, J. "Introduction to Mass Spectrometry: Instrumentation and Techniques"; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1968; Chapter 11.
- 30. Carter, J. A.; Donohue, D. L.; Franklin, J. C.; Walker, R. L. In "Analytical Methods for Coal and Coal Products"; Karr, C., Jr., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1978; Vol. I, Chapter 13.
- 31. Guidoboni, R. J. In "Analytical Methods for Coal and Coal Products"; Karr, D., Jr., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1978; Vol. I, Chapter 14.
- Morrison, G. H.; Roth, J. R. In "Trace Analysis by Mass Spectrometry"; Ahearn, A. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1972; Chapter 9.
- Franzen, J. In "Trace Analysis of Mass Spectrometry"; Ahearn, A. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1972; Chapter 2.
- 34. Ito, M.; Sato, S.; Yanagihara, K. Anal. Chim. Acta 1980, 120, 217.
- 35. Nicholls, G. D.; Graham, A. L.; Williams, E.; Wood, M. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1967, 39, 584.
- Taylor, S. R.; Gorton, M. P. <u>Geochim</u>. <u>Cosmochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1977, 41, 1375.
- 37. Millett, E. J.; Morice, J. A.; Clegg, J. B. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 1974, 13, 222.
- 38. Schuy, K. D.; Franzen, J. Z. Anal. Chem. 1967, 225, 260.
- 39. Franzen, J.; Schuy, K. D. Z. Naturforsch. 1966, 21A, 9.
- 40. Franzen, J. Z. Naturforsch. 1963, 18A, 410.
- 41. Roboz, J. "Introduction to Mass Spectrometry: Instrumentation and Techniques"; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1968; Chapter 3.
- 42. Roboz, J. "Introduction to Mass Spectrometry: Instrumentation and Techniques"; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1968; Chapter 2.
- 43. Roboz, J. "Introduction to Mass Spectrometry: Instrumentation and Techniques"; Interscience Publishers: New York, 1968; Chapter 5.
- 44. Franzen, J.; Maurer, K. H.; Schuy, K. D. <u>Z</u>. <u>Naturforsch</u>. 1966, 21A, 37.

- 45. Klein, E. J. Phys. Chem. 1962, 66, 2407.
- 46. Burlefinger, E.; Ewald, H. Z. Naturforsch. 1961, 16A, 430.
- Honig, R. E. In "Trace Analysis by Mass Spectrometry"; Ahearn, A. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1972; Chapter 4.
- 48. Franzen, J.; Hebeda, E. Z. Naturforsch. 1962, 17A, 476.
- 49. Wagner, H. Spring Meeting of the German Physical Society, Bad Nauheim, 1964.
- 50. Wagner, H.; Hergt, R. Z. Naturforsch. 1967, 22A, 1984.
- 51. Mai, H. J. Sci. Instrum. 1965, 42, 339.
- 52. Mai, H. In "Advances in Mass Spectrometry"; Mead, W. L., Ed.; Institute of Petroleum: London, 1966; Vol. 3, Session B, 163.
- 53. Mai, H. "Studies Concerning the Improvement of Detectability, Sensitivity, and Accuracy of Solids Analysis by Mass Spectrography", Thesis, Friedrich Schiller University, Jena, 1968.
- 54. Ahearn, A. J.; Paulsen, P. J. Anal. Chem. 1968, 40, 75A.
- 55. Swift, P. AEI MS7 User's Conference, Manchester, 1966.
- 56. Kennicott, P. Anal. Chem. 1966, 38, 633.
- 57. Cavard, A. In "Advances in Mass Spectrometry"; Kendrick, E., Ed.; Institute of Petroleum: London, 1968; Vol. 4, 419.
- Conzemius, R. J.; Svec, H. J. In "Trace Analysis by Mass Spectrometry"; Ahearn, A. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1972; Chapter 5.
- 59. Nadkarni, R. A. Radiochem. Radioanal. Lett. 1975, 21, 161.
- Nadkarni, R. A.; Morrison, G. H. <u>J. Radioanal. Chem</u>. 1978, 43, 347.
- 61. Nadkarni, R. A. Anal. Chem. 1980, 52, 929.
- 62. Ondov, J. M.; Zoller, W. H.; Olmex, K.; Aras, N. K.; Gordon, G. E.; Rancitelli, L. A.; Able, K. H.; Filby, R. H.; Shah, K. R.; Ragaini, R. D. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1975, 47, 1102.
- 63. Maenhaut, W.; Zoller, W. H. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1977, 37, 637.

- 64. Gladney, E. S.; Rook, H. L. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1975, 47, 1554.
- Wangen, L. E.; Gladney, E. S.; Hensley, W. K. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1980, 52, 765.
- Millard, H. T.; Swanson, V. E. <u>Am</u>. <u>Nucl. Soc</u>. <u>Trans</u>. 1975, 21, 108.
- Ruch, R. R.; Cahill, R. A.; Frost, J. K.; Camp, L. R.; Gluskoter, H. J. <u>Am</u>. <u>Nucl</u>. <u>Soc</u>. <u>Trans</u>. 1975, 21, 107.
- 68. Ricci, E. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1975, 79, 109.
- 69. Kucera, E. T.; Heinrich, R. R. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1976, 32, 137.
- 70. Hancock, R. G. V. Anal. Chem. 1976, 48, 1443.
- 71. Vandecasteele, C.; Kieffer, R.; Hoste, J. J. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1977, 37, 255.
- 72. Chattopadhyay, A. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1977, 37, 785.
- 73. Greenberg, R. R. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1979, 51, 2004.
- 74. Germani, M. S.; Gokmen, I.; Sigleo, A. C.; Kowalczyk, G. S.; Olmez, I.; Small, A.; Anderson, D. L.; Failey, M. P.; Gulovali, M. C.; Choguette, C. E.; Lepel, E. A.; Gordon, G. E.; Zoller, W. H. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1980, 52, 240.
- 75. Weaver, J. N. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1974, 46, 1292.
- 76. Weaver, J. N. In "Analytical Methods for Coal and Coal Products"; Karr, C., Jr., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1978; Vol. I, Chapter 12.
- 77. Schlesinger, M. D.; Schultz, H. "Analysis for Mercury in Coal", September 1971, Bur. of Mines Tech. Prog. Report-43.
- 78. Block, C.; Dams, R. Environ. Sci. Tech. 1975, 9, 146.
- 79. Klein, D. H.; Andren, A. W.; Carter, J. A.; Emery, J. F.; Feldman, C.; Fulkerson, W.; Lyon, W. S.; Ogle, J. C.; Talmi, Y.; Van Hook, R. I.; Bolton, N. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1975, 9, 973.
- Furr, A. K.; Parkinson, T. F.; Hinrichs, R. A.; Van Campen, D. R.; Bache, C. A.; Gutenmann, W. H.; St. John, L. E., Jr.; Pakkala, I. S.; Lisk, D. J. <u>Environ. Sci. Technol</u>. 1977, 11, 1194.
- 81. Guzzi, G.; Colombo, A.; Girardi, F.; Pietra, R.; Rossi, G.; Toussaint, N. J. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1977, 37, 693.

- Campbell, J. A.; Laul, J. C.; Nielson, K. K.; Smith, R. D. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1978, 50, 1032.
- 83. Santoliquido, P. M. Radiochem. Radioanal. Lett. 1973, 15, 373.
- 84. Gladney, E. S. Anal. Chim. Acta 1977, 91, 353.
- 85. Nadkarni, R. A.; Morrison, G. H. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1977, 38, 435.
- 86. Nadkarni, R. A. Radiochem. Radioanal. Lett. 1977, 30, 329.
- 87. Nadkarni, R. A.; Morrison, G. H. Anal. Chem. 1978, 50, 294.
- 88. Gladney, E. S. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Lett</u>. 1978, All, 429.
- 89. Knab, D.; Gladney, E. S. Anal. Chem. 1980, 52, 825.
- 90. Pillay, K. K. S.; Thomas, C. C., Jr.; Kaminski, J. W. <u>Am. Nucl.</u> <u>Soc. Trans</u>. 1969, 12, 41.
- 91. Gluskoter, H. J.; Ruch, R. R.; Miller, W. G.; Cahill, R. A.; Dreher, G. B.; Kuhn, J. K. "Trace Elements in Coal: Occurrence and Distribution", Illinois State Geological Survey, Circ. 1977, No. 499.
- 92. Orvini, E.; Gills, T. E.; LaFleur, P. D. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1974, 46, 1294.
- 93. Jervis, R. E.; Tiefenbach, B.; Chattopadhyay, A. J. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1977, 37, 751.
- 94. Rook, H. L. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1977, 39, 351.
- 95. Gallorini, M.; Greenberg, R. R.; Gills, T. E. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1978, 50, 1479.
- 96. Steinnes, E.; Rowe, J. J. Anal. Chim. Acta 1976, 87, 451.
- 97. Rowe, J. J.; Steinnes, E. J. Radioanal. Chem. 1977, 37, 849.
- 98. Rowe, J. J.; Steinnes, E. Talanta 1977, 24, 433.
- 99. Wangen, L. E.; Gladney, E. S. Anal. Chim. Acta 1978, 96, 271.
- 100. Gladney, E. S.; Hensley, W. K.; Minor, M. M. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1978, 50, 652.
- 101. Gladney, E. S.; Perrin, D. R. Anal. Chem. 1979, 51, 2015.

- 102. Block, C.; Dams, R. Anal. Chim. Acta 1973, 68, 11.
- 103. Ryan, D. E.; Stuart, D. C.; Chattopadhyay, A. <u>Anal. Chim. Acta</u> 1978, 100, 87.
- 104. Gladney, E. S.; Jurney, E. T.; Curtis, D. B. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1976, 48, 2139.
- 105. Jurney, E. T.; Curtis, D. B.; Gladney, E. S. <u>Anal. Chem</u>, 1977, 49, 1741.
- 106. Gladney, E. S.; Curtis, D. B.; Jurney, E. T. <u>J. Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1978, 46, 299.
- 107. Failey, M. P.; Anderson, D. L.; Zoller, W. H.; Gordon, G. E.; Lindstrom, R. M. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1979, 51, 2209.
- 108. Chattopadhyay, A.; Jervis, R. E. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1974, 46, 1630.
- 109. Kato, T.; Masumoto, K.; Sato, N.; Suzuki, N. J. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1976, 32, 51.
- 110. Kato, T.; Sato, N.; Suzuki, N. <u>Talanta</u> 1976, 23, 517.
- 111. Nielson, K. K. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>, 1977, 49, 641.
- 112. Giauque, R. D.; Garrett, R. B.; Goda, L. Y. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1977, 49, 1012.
- 113. Giauque, R. D.; Garrett, R. B.; Goda, L. Y. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1979, 51, 511.
- 114. Pella, P. A.; Lorber, K. E.; Heinrich, K. F. J. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1978, 50, 1268.
- 115. Smith, R. D.; Campbell, J. A.; Nielson, K. K. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1979, 13, 553.
- 116. Donderer, E. Neues Jahrb. Mineral. Monatsh. 1972, 4, 167.
- 117. Hall, R. H.; Lovell, H. L. Anal. Chem. 1958, 30, 1665.
- 118. Smith, A. C. J. Appl. Chem. 1958, 8, 636.
- il9. O'Neil, R. L.; Suhr, N. W. Appl. Spectrosc. 1960, 14, 45.
- 120. Zubovic, P.; Stadnichenko, T.; Sheffey, N. B. "Geochemistry of Minor Elements in Coals of the Northern Great Plains Coal Province", U.S. Geol. Surv. Bull. 1961, No. 1117-A.

- 121. Peterson, M. J.; Zink, J. B. <u>U.S. Bur. Mines Rep. Invest.</u> 1964, 6496, 1.
- 122. Abernethy, R. F.; Peterson, M. J.; Gibson, F. H. U.S. Bur. Mines Rep. Invest. 1969, 7281, 1.
- 123. Feldman, C. Anal. Chem. 1977, 49, 825.
- 124. Sugimae, A.; Skogerboe, R. K. <u>Anal. Chim. Acta</u> 1978, 97, 1.
- 125. Kekin, N. A.; Marincheva, V. E. Ind. Lab. (USSR) 1970, 36, 1351.
- 126. Fassel, V. A. Anal. Chem. 1979, 51, 1290A.
- 127. Floyd, M. A.; Fassel, V. A.; D'Silva, A. P. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1980, 52, 2168.
- 128. Talmi, Y.; Andren, A. W. Anal. Chem. 1974, 46, 2122.
- 129. Talmi, Y.; Norvell, V. E. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1975, 47, 1510.
- 130. Talmi, Y. Anal. Chem. 1974, 46, 1005.
- 131. Feldman, C. Anal. Chem. 19/9, 51, 664.
- 132. Muter, R. B.; Cockrell, C. F. Appl. Spectrosc. 1969, 23, 493.
- 133. Spielholtz, G. I.; Toralballa, G. C.; Steinberg, R. J. <u>Mikrochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1971, 6, 918.
- 134. Owens, J. W.; Gladney, E. S. At. Absorpt. Newsl. 1976, 15, 95.
- 135. Geladi, P.; Adams, F. Anal. Chim. Acta 1978, 96, 229.
- 136. Wegscheider, W.; Knapp, G.; Spitzy, H. <u>Talanta</u> 1979, 26, 25.
- 137. Silberman, D.; Fisher, G. L. Anal. Chim. Acta 1979, 106, 299.
- 138. Owens, J. W.; Gladney, E. S. <u>At. Absorpt. Newsl</u>. 1975, 14, 76.
- 139. Block, C. <u>Anal. Chim. Acta</u> 1975, 80, 369.
- 140. Pilate, A.; Geladi, P.; Adams, F. Talanta 1977, 24, 512.
- 141. Mitchell, J.; Blitzer, L. D.; Kometaini, T. Y.; Gills, T.; Clark, L. J. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1977, 39, 335.
- 142. Haynes, B. W. <u>At. Absorpt. News1</u>. 1978, 17, 49.

- 143. Geladi, P.; Adams, F. Anal. Chim. Acta 1979, 105, 219.
- 144. Smith, R. G.; Van Loon, J. C.; Knechtel, J. R.; Fraser, J. L.; Pits, A. E.; Hodges, A. E. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chim</u>. Acta 1977, 93, 61.
- 145. Seimer, D. D.; Wei, H. Anal. Chem. 1978, 50, 147.
- 146. Anderson, D. H.; Evans, J. H.; Murphy, J. J.; White, W. W. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1971, 43, 1511.
- 147. Bailey, B. W.; Lo, F. C. Anal. Chem. 1971, 43, 1525.
- 148. Rains, T. C.; Menis, O. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 1972, 55, 1339.
- 149. Siemer, D.; Woodriff, R. Anal. Chem. 1974, 46, 597.
- 150. Heinrichs, H. Z. Anal. Chem. 1975, 273, 197.
- 151. Gladney, E. S.; Owens, J. W. Anal. Chim. Acta 1977, 90, 271.
- 152. Edgcombe, L. J.; Gold, H. K. Analyst 1955, 80, 155.
- 153. Crawford, A.; Palmer, J. G.; Wood, J. H. <u>Mikrochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1958, 2, 277.
- 154. Crook, S. R.; Wald, S. Fuel 1960, 39, 313.
- 155. Kunstmann, F. H.; Bodenstein, L. B. <u>J. S. Afr. Inst. Min. Metall</u>. 1961, 62, 234.
- 156. Abernethy, R. F.; Gibson, F. H. <u>U.S. Bur. Mines Rep. Invest</u>. 1968, 7184, 1.
- 157. Vasilevskaya, A. E.; Shcherbakov, V. P.; Klimenchuk, V. I. <u>Ind. Lab. (USSR)</u> 1962, 28, 436.
- 158. Weaver, C. Fuel 1967, 46, 407.
- 159. Cuttitta, F.; Warr, J. J., Jr. <u>Geochim</u>. <u>Cosmochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1958, 13, 256.
- 160. Abernethy, R. F.; Hattman, E. A. <u>U.S. Bur. Mines Rep. Invest</u>. 1970, 7452, 1.
- 161. Guttag, N. S.; Grimaldi, F. S. <u>U.S. Geol. Surv. Bull</u>. 1954, 1006, 111.
- 162. Schonfeld, T.; Elgarhy, M.; Friedmann, C.; Veselsky, J. <u>Mikrochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1960, 5-6, 883.
- 163. Purkayastha, B. C.; Saha, S. R. <u>Indian J. Appl. Chem</u>. 1962, 25, 20.
- 164. Thomas, J., Jr.; Gluskoter, H. J. Anal. Chem. 1974, 46, 1321.
- 165. Andrews, R. W.; Johnson, D. C. Anal. Chem. 1976, 48, 1056.
- 166. Kunstmann, F. J.; Harris, J. F. J. Chem. Metall. Min. Soc. <u>S. Afr</u>. 1954, 55, 12.
- 167. Jackson, P. J. J. Appl. Chem. 1957, 7, 605.
- 168. Allan, F. J.; Dundas, F. S.; Lambie, D. A. <u>J. Inst. Fuel</u> 1969, 42, 29.

. .

- 169. Wilson, A. D.; Lewis, D. T. <u>Analyst</u> 1963, 88, 510.
- 170. Harrison, W. W.; Clemena, G. G.; Magee, C. W. J. <u>Off. Anal. Chem</u>. 1971, 54, 929.
- 171. Taylor, H. E.; Brown, R. In "Instrumentation in the Mining and Metallurgy Industry"; Watson, B. A., Ed.; Duluth, MN, June 10-11, 1974; Vol. 2, 21.
- 172. Morrison, G. H. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1975, 84, 581.
- 173. Ahearn, A. J. "Trace Characterization, Chemical and Physical", 1967, NBS Monograph-100, 347.
- 174. Donohue, D. L.; Carter, J. A.; Franklin, J. C. <u>Anal. Lett</u>. 1977, 10, 371.
- 175. Jaworski, J. F.; Morrison, G. H. Anal. Chem. 1974, 46, 2080.
- 176. Owens, E. B.; Giardino, N. A. Anal. Chem. 1963, 35, 1172.
- 177. Van Hoye, E.; Gijbels, R.; Adams, F. <u>Talanta</u> 1976, 23, 369.
- 178. Taylor, S. R. <u>Geochim</u>. <u>Cosmochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1965, 29, 1243.
- 179. Yanagihara, K.; Sato, S.; Oda, S.; Hitoshi, K. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1978, 98, 307.
- 180. Conzemius, R. J.; Svec, H. J. Talanta 1973, 20, 575.
- 181. Shelpakova, I. R.; Saprykin, A. I.; Gerasimov, V. A.; Yudelevich, I. G. J. Anal. Chem. USSR 1980, 35, 413.
- 182. Van Hoye, E.; Adams, F.; Gijbels, R. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 1979, 30, 75.

- 183. Venkatasubramanian, V. S.; Swaminathan, S.; Rajagopalan, P. T. Int. J. Mass Spectrom. Ion Phys. 1977, 24, 207.
- 184. Pustovit, A. N.; Sikharulidze, G. G. <u>Mikrochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1981, 2, 219.
- 185. Ure, A. M.; Bacon, J. R. <u>Analyst</u> 1978, 103, 807.
- 186. Berthod, J.; Stefani, R. <u>Int. J. Mass Spectrom</u>. <u>Ion Phys</u>. 1976, 22, 121.
- 187. Conzemius, R. J., Assoc. Chemist, Ames Laboratory, Ames, IA, Oct. 22, 1981; private communication.
- 188. Graham, A. L.; Nicholls, G. D. <u>Geochim</u>. <u>Cosmochim</u>. <u>Acta</u> 1969, 33, 555.
- 189. Ure, A. M.; Bacon, J. R. <u>Proc. Anal. Div. Chem. Soc</u>. 1976, 13, 124.
- 190. Morrison, G. H.; Kashuba, A. T. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1969, 41, 1842.
- 191. Burdo, R. A.; Morrison, G. H. Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, 1971, Mater. Sci. Center Report 1670.
- 192. Taylor, S. R. Nature 1965, 205, 34.
- 193. Desjardins, M.; Stefani, R.; Bourguillot, R.; Cornw, A. In "Advances in Mass Spectrometry"; Mead, W. L., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, 1966; Vol. 3, Session B, 131.
- 194. Labar, C.; Lamberts, L. Analusis 1979, 7, 175.
- 195. Franzen, J.; Schuy, K. D. Z. Naturforsch. 1966, 21A, 1479.
- 196. Van Hoye, E.; Adams, F.; Gijbels, R. Talanta 1979, 26, 285.
- 197. Lyon, W. S. "Trace Element Measurements at the Coal-Fired Steam Plant"; CRC Press, Inc.: Cleveland, OH, 1977.
- 198. Carver, R. D.; Johnson, P. G. Appl. Spectrosc. 1968, 22, 431.
- 199. Lett, R. G.; Schmidt, C. E.; DeSantis, R. R.; Sharkey, A. G., Jr. "Screening for Hazardous Elements and Compounds in Process Streams of the 1/2 Ton Per Day Synthoil Process Development Unit", Oct. 1977, ERDA Paper PERC/RI-77/12.
- 200. Kessler, T.; Sharkey, A. G., Jr.; Friedel, R. A. <u>U.S.</u> <u>Bur</u>. <u>Mines</u> <u>Rep</u>. <u>Invest</u>. 1973, 7714, 1.

- 201. Guidoboni, R. J. Anal. Chem. 1973, 45, 1275.
- 202. Morrison, G. H.; Gerard, J. T.; Kashuba, A. T.; Gangadharam, E. V.; Rothenberg, A. M.; Potter, N. M.; Miller, G. B. <u>Science</u> 1970, 167, 505.
- 203. Bulaceanu, R.; Dumitrescu, P. Rev. Chim. 1976, 27, 894.
- 204. Vanderborght, B.; VanGrieken, R. Talanta 1979, 26, 461.
- 205. Goshgarian, B. B.; Jensen, A. V. 12th Anniv. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, Montreal, 1964, 350.
- 206. Von Lehmden, D. J.; Jungers, R. H.; Lee, R. E., Jr. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1974, 46, 239.
- 207. Sharkey, A. G., Jr.; Shulta, J. L.; Friedel, R. A. <u>U.S.</u> <u>Bur</u>. <u>Mines</u> <u>Rep</u>. <u>Invest</u>. 1963, 6318, 1.
- 208. Kessler, T.; Sharkey, A. G., Jr.; Friedel, R. A. "Spark-Source Mass Spectrometer Investigation of Coal Particles and Coal Ash", September 1971, Bur. of Mines Tech. Prog. Report-42.
- 209. Brown, R.; Jacobs, M. L.; Taylor, H. E. Am. Lab. 1972, 4, 29.
- 210. Forney, A. J.; Haynes, W. P.; Gasior, S. J.; Kornosky, R. M.; Schmidt, C. E.; Sharkey, A. G., Jr. "Trace Element and Major Component Balances Around the Synthane PDU Gasifier", Aug. 1975, ERDA Paper PERC/TPR/75/1.
- 211. Phillips, M. A. Environ. Lett. 1973, 5, 183.
- 212. Daughtrey, E. H., Jr. 24th Annu. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, San Diego, CA, 1976, 638.
- 213. Klein, D. H.; Andren, A. W.; Carter, J. A.; Emery, J. F.; Feldman, C.; Fulkerson, W.; Lyon, W. S.; Ogle, J. C.; Talmi, Y.; Van Hook, R. I.; Bolton, N. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1975, 9, 973.
- 214. Paulsen, P. J.; Chemist, Center for Analytical Chemistry, National Bureau of Standards, Gaithersburg, MD, May 12, 1978; private communication.
- 215. Mattauch, J.; Ewald, H. Naturwissenschaften, 1943, 31, 487.
- 216. Churchill, J. R. Ind. Eng. Chem. Anal. Ed. 1944, 16, 563.
- 217. Kennicott, P. R. In "Trace Analysis by Mass Spectrometry"; Ahearn, A. J., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1972; Chapter 6.

- 218. Skogerboe, R. K.; Harrington, W. L.; Morrison, G. H. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1966, 38, 1408.
- 219. Boswell, C. R.; Berman, S. S.; Russell, D. S. <u>Appl</u>. <u>Spectrosc</u>. 1969, 23, 268.
- 220. Taylor, S. R. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1971, 35, 1187.
- 221. Baker, E. A. Proc. R. Soc. Edinburgh 1925, 45, 161.
- 222. Vanderborght, B.; Van Grieken, R. Anal. Chim. Acta 1978, 103, 223.
- 223. McCrea, J. M. 14th Annu. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, Dallas, 1966, 282.
- 224. Wagner, H. Ann. Physik 1964, 7, 189.
- 225. Hull, C. W. 10th Annu. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, New Orleans, 1962, 404.
- 226. Burdo, R. A.; Roth, J. R.; Morrison, G. H. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1974, 46, 701.
- 227. Frisch, M. A.; Reuter, W. Anal. Chem. 1973, 45, 1889.
- 228. Woolston, J. R. 13th Annu. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, St. Louis, 1965, 79.
- 229. McCrea, J. M. Appl. Spectrosc. 1966, 20, 181.
- 230. Bubushkina, T. V.; Glavin, G. G.; Zelenin, A. E.; Kostenko, T. A. <u>J. Anal. Chem. USSR</u> 1977, 32, 856.
- 231. Millett, E. J.; Morice, J. A.; Clegg, J. B. <u>Int. J. Mass</u> <u>Spectrom</u>. <u>Ion Phyc</u>. 1974, 13, 1.
- 232. Verbueken, A.; Van Grieken, R. <u>Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg</u>. 1981, 90, 331.
- 233. Kinoshita, S. Proc. R. Soc. London 1910, A83, 432.
- 234. Kennicott, P. R. 12th Annu. Conf. Mass Spectrom. Allied Topics, Montreal, 1964, 550.
- 235. McCrea, J. M. Appl. Spectrosc. 1971, 25, 246.
- 236. Mitchell, R. H. Nor. Geol. Tidsskr. 1968, 48, 65.

- 237. Parratt, L. G. "Probability and Experimental Errors in Science"; John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: New York, 1961; Chapter 4.
- 238. Owens, E. B. Appl. Spectrosc. 1962, 16, 148.
- 239. Grais, K. I. Appl. Spectrosc. 1969, 23, 607.
- 240. Friedlander, G.; Kennedy, J. W. "Nuclear and Radiochemistry"; John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: New York, 1955; Chapter 7.
- 241. Read, J., Engineer, Brown Engineering Co., West Des Moines, IA, Nov. 25, 1987; private communication.
- 242. "Annual Book of ASTM Standards". <u>American Society for Testing</u> and <u>Materials</u>, 1978; Part 26.
- 243. "Annual Book of ASTM Standards". <u>American Society for Testing</u> and <u>Materials</u>, 1978; Part 14.
- 244. McGregor, K. T. Process Meas. Rev. 1980, 2, 7.
- 245. McGregor, K. T. "Elemental Analysis for Environmental Assessment Measurements", presented at the Second Symposium on Process Measurements for Environmental Assessment, Atlanta, GA, Feb. 25-27, 1980.
- 246. Gleit, C. E.; Holland, W. D. <u>Anal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1962, 34, 1454.
- 247. Gleit, C. E. Anal. Chem. 1965, 37, 314.
- 248. Gluskoter, H. J. Fuel 1965, 44, 285.
- 249. O'Gorman, J. V.; Suhr, N. H.; Walker, P. L., Jr. <u>Appl. Spectrosc</u>. 1972, 26, 44.
- 250. Evans, C. A., Jr.; Morrison, G. H. Anal. Chem. 1968, 40, 869.
- 251. Lutz, G. J.; Stemple, J. S.; Rook, H. L. <u>J. Radioanal. Chem</u>. 1977, 39, 277.
- 252. Bachman, R. Z., Assoc. Chemist, Ames Laboratory, Ames, IA, Sept. 30, 1981; private communication.
- 253. Gladney, E. S. "Compilation of Elemental Concentration Data for NBS Biological and Environmental Standard Reference Materials", July 1980, DOE Report LA-8438-MS.
- 254. Smith, R. D. Proc. Energy Combust. Sci. 1980, 6, 53.

- 255. Rasmussen, R. R., Head of Physical Plant, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, Nov. 13, 1981; private communication.
- 256. Merrill, R. R., Manager of Physical Plant, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, Nov. 13, 1981; private communication.
- 257. Parratt, L. G. "Probability and Experimental Errors in Science"; John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: New York, 1961; Chapter 3.
- 258. Linton, R. W.; Williams, P.; Evans, C. A., Jr.; Natursch, D. F. S. <u>Anal. Chem</u>. 1977, 49, 1514.
- 259. Pillay, K. K. S.; Thomas, C. C., Jr. <u>J</u>. <u>Radioanal</u>. <u>Chem</u>. 1971, 7, 107.
- 260. Billings, C. E.; Sacco, A. M.; Matson, W. R.; Griffin, R. M.; Coniglio, W. R.; Harley, R. A. J. <u>Air Pollut</u>. <u>Control Assoc</u>. 1973, 23, 773.
- 261. Ting, B. T. G.; Manahan, S. E. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1979, 13, 1537.
- 262. Heinrichs, H. Naturwissenschaften 1977, 64, 479.
- 263. Hook, W. Pure Appl. Chem. 1977, 49, 1465.
- 264. Natusch, D. F. S.; Wallace, J. R.; Evans, C. A., Jr. <u>Science</u> 1974, 183, 202.
- 265. Churey, D. J.; Gutenmann, W. H.; Kabata-Pendias, A.; Lisk, D. J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1979, 27, 910.
- 266. Ondov, J. M.; Ragaini, R. C.; Biermann, A. H. <u>Atmos</u>. <u>Environ</u>. 1978, 12, 1175.
- 267. Davison, R. L.; Natusch, D. F. S.; Wallace, J. R.; Evans, C. A., Jr. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1974, 8, 1107.
- 268. Coles, D. G.; Ragaini, R. C.; Ondov, J. M.; Fisher, G. L.; Silberman, D.; Prentice, B. A. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1979, 13, 455.
- 269. Hulett, L. D.; Weinberger, A. J. <u>Environ</u>. <u>Sci</u>. <u>Technol</u>. 1980, 14, 965.
- 270. Hansen, L. D.; Fisher, G. L. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1980, 14, 1111.
- 271. Campbell, J. A.; Smith, R. D.; Davis, L. E. <u>Appl. Spectrosc</u>. 1978, 32, 316.

- 272. Zoller, W. H.; Gladney, E. S.; Gordon, G. E.; Bors, J. J. "Emissions of Trace Elements from Coal Fired Power Plants", presented at the 8th Annual Conference on Trace Substances in Environmental Health, Columbia, MO, June 11-13, 1974.
- 273. Burkholder, H. R., Assoc. Chemist, Ames Laboratory, Ames, IA, Dec. 3, 1981; private communication.

IX. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My tenure as a graduate student has been a useful educational experience through the help of many people. I would like to thank Dr. Harry Svec for his patience, support, guidance, and prodding. I am thankful for the helpful suggestions given to me by Bob Conzemius and for his close association with me and my work. I am also grateful for the help given to me by Clarence Ness in learning how to operate the spark source mass spectrograph.

I would like to thank Ron Rasmussen and Ron Merrill for their assistance with the collection of the coal and ash samples at the Iowa State University Power Plant. Also, I give my thanks to Dr. Don Biggs for making the crushing machinery and equipment for sample reduction available to me, Ed DeKalb for the use of his low-temperature ashing equipment, and Bob Bachman and Gary Austin for the wet chemical analyses of the ashed coal and other ashes.

Finally, special thanks to my wife, Jill, for her patience, encouragement, support, and understanding.

105